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          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Good afternoon.

          3  Welcome to the joint hearing of the Health and the

          4  Mental Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug

          5  Abuse And Disability Services Committees.  I just

          6  want to first say we're joined, obviously, by the

          7  Chair of the Mental Health Committee, Council Member

          8  Margarita Lopez, by Council Member Al Vann, and

          9  Council Member Yvette Clarke of Brooklyn, both of

         10  whom are members of the Health Committee. Are either

         11  of you also members of the Mental Health Committee?

         12  No, okay. And there's a press conference going on

         13  outside on the porch of the referendum to reduce

         14  class size so more folks will be coming up in a few

         15  minutes.

         16                 We are here today in the second

         17  hearing that the Council has had regarding the cuts,

         18  supposed cutbacks and we believe possible closure of

         19  the Veterans' Administration facility on East 23rd

         20  Street. The first hearing was held by Chairperson

         21  Lopez in the Mental Health Committee and today we

         22  have a joint hearing on the overall issue, as well

         23  as two resolutions dealing with the cutbacks and the

         24  possible closure, one that was introduced into the

         25  Mental Health Committee that focuses on the proposed
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          2  cuts in that area, the other that was introduced in

          3  Health Committee that focuses on the proposed cuts

          4  for overall health services, who are also

          5  considering a resolution today, number 1064,

          6  introduced by Council Member Nelson, a resolution

          7  which urges Congress to adopt house bill 270 and

          8  Senate Bill 967, the Veterans' Equal Treatment Act,

          9  which is not directly related to the 23rd Street

         10  facility but does have an overlap.

         11                 So, as you can see, the fight to keep

         12  the 23rd Street facility open and fully at the same

         13  service level is one that the Council is taking very

         14  seriously. This is our second hearing, there was

         15  also a Speakout, and a press conference was held by

         16  Chairperson Lopez, Congressmember Maloney and

         17  Speaker Miller.

         18                 At the first hearing we heard very

         19  eloquently from veterans and their representatives

         20  about the importance of the services, and also about

         21  how they were not in any way, shape or form reached

         22  out to by the federal government to comment or give

         23  input on the impact that these cutbacks would have.

         24                 Today, in addition to hearing from

         25  veterans, we are also going to be hearing from
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          2  unions who represent the workers at the VA facility,

          3  and hope to hear from them about the type of care

          4  and service that they deliver, hear about the needs

          5  of the veterans they serve, and also what they

          6  believe the impact would be on their jobs,

          7  livelihood and obviously their families that they

          8  take care of.

          9                 We're also going to hear today from

         10  representatives of New York University. The VA

         11  Hospital, being located on 23rd Street, has a

         12  relationship and an affiliation of sorts with both

         13  NYU Hospital facility and with Bellevue. The

         14  residents from both of those programs rotate in and

         15  out of the VA, so cutbacks there, in addition to the

         16  impact on workers, and most importantly veterans,

         17  also have an impact on the City's ability to train

         18  doctors to the fullest degree possible, and have an

         19  impact on those two specific institutions, NYU's and

         20  Bellevue's, ability to train their doctors.

         21                 You know, that said, I just want to

         22  add that at the moment the federal government

         23  appears to be proposing to cutback the services and

         24  move them to Brooklyn. The Brooklyn facility of the

         25  VA is a facility associated with SUNY Downstate
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          2  Medical Center, a facility that my colleague,

          3  Council Member Clarke, and others, are very familiar

          4  with. That facility, although it does have some very

          5  good programs, is presently under review, because of

          6  some very serious problems that occurred there

          7  during the blackout.

          8                 The Joint Commission on Accreditation

          9  of Health Care Organizations, JCAHO, as well as the

         10  New York State Department of Health, are

         11  investigating why it was that there were not

         12  appropriate generator services at SUNY Downstate

         13  during the blackouts, and people from JCAHO have

         14  been quoted in the press as saying that, "the

         15  hospital could lose their accreditation if it's

         16  perceived to be an immediate threat to patient

         17  safety.

         18                 So, it's important that we also know

         19  that the facility that is being slated to absorb the

         20  services is having problems of its own and I think

         21  we need to add that question on the record as well.

         22                 That said, I want to turn it over to

         23  the Chair of the Committee, Council Member Lopez,

         24  who has really been the leading voice in the Council

         25  and in the City on trying to keep this very, very
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          2  important facility open.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Quinn, for that statement. I appreciate it.

          5  Good afternoon, and thank you for joining us for

          6  this joint committee hearing of the Committee of

          7  Mental Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug

          8  Abuse and Disability Services, and the Committee on

          9  Health, chaired by Council Member Christine Quinn.

         10                 Before I continue, I just want to

         11  make a statement for the families of the people who

         12  died yesterday in the ferry system with that

         13  horrible tragic accident. My prayers go to the

         14  families who lost their loved ones and for those

         15  ones who became hurt and many people lost body parts

         16  on this accident, making people from now on probably

         17  disabled from that horrible accident.

         18                 I just want to make everyone know in

         19  Staten Island, the entire City is with all of you,

         20  and we love you, and the families that suffered the

         21  loss, we are so sorry for what happened to you.

         22                 Chair, thank you with regard to that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Chair Lopez, if I

         24  could just thank you for saying that, and also add

         25  that Council Member Oddo who is a member of the
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          2  Health Committee and the Minority Leader, will not

          3  be able to be with us today, he represents Staten

          4  Island and did call to say he's going to need to be

          5  there all day, which we of course understand.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's for good

          7  reasons.

          8                 Then saying that, I am Margarita

          9  Lopez, and I am the Chair of the Committee on Mental

         10  Health. I am pleased to be joined today by my

         11  colleague, Christine Quinn, Chair of the Committee

         12  on Health. Thank you for joining us today for this

         13  Committee's second hearing on this issue.

         14                 At the September 16 hearing regarding

         15  the proposed shutdown, the Committee made the

         16  following key findings:

         17                 The proposed transfers of inpatient

         18  services to the Brooklyn VA facility, will make it

         19  unacceptable, and completely difficult, if not

         20  impossible, for patients of Manhattan facilities to

         21  access services simply because the Brooklyn facility

         22  is not accessible for people with disabilities.

         23                 The Manhattan VA Hospital is in close

         24  proximity to and is affiliated with such medical

         25  institutions as New York University, the School of
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          2  Medicine, Bellevue Medical Center, and the New York

          3  University Medical Center Rusk Institute of

          4  Rehabilitation Medicine.

          5                 The proposed transfer will

          6  effectively eliminate the range, quality and depth

          7  of specialized care to which New York City disabled

          8  veterans currently have access.

          9                 The process by which the Veterans'

         10  Administration has prepared the proposal and is

         11  taking comment has been anything but transparent or

         12  open.

         13                 As a matter of fact, the day that

         14  they had the hearings in the Bronx for people to

         15  submit comments and be part of the process was

         16  closed to people, only by invitation you were able

         17  to testify.

         18                 The details of the proposed plan are

         19  not clear as the CARES' plan provides few if any

         20  specifics regarding its implementation or potential

         21  impact on patients.

         22                 I must say here, I don't want to get

         23  cynical, but the CARES' name is really a hypocrisy.

         24                 On September 5th, 2003, I held a

         25  press conference together with Speaker Gifford
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          2  Miller and Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum on this

          3  issue, and that was only because tenants in my

          4  district who are veterans who use this hospital

          5  notified me two weeks before of what was going on in

          6  the Veterans' Hospital, therefore, if I didn't know,

          7  if Council Member Christine Quinn didn't know, and

          8  we read the newspaper and we are aware of what's

          9  going on in this City, can you imagine who knew?

         10  This is the best secret kept in town, and that is

         11  the reason that it's on September 5th that we hold

         12  the press conference.

         13                 September 16 my Committee held an

         14  oversight hearing regarding the proposed closing.

         15                 September 17th I introduced a

         16  resolution, 1027, opposing this shutdown. September

         17  17, together with Speaker Miller, I submitted a

         18  joint letter to the US Department of Veterans

         19  Affairs in opposition to the shutdown.

         20                 September 30, Council Member Quinn

         21  introduced Resolution Number 1067, also opposing the

         22  proposed shutdown.

         23                 October 7, together with Speaker

         24  Miller and Congress Member Carolyn Maloney, we held

         25  a rally in front of the Manhattan VA Medical Center,
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          2  also opposing the proposed shutdown.

          3                 Today we will consider and vote on

          4  three resolutions, Resos Number 1027, Reso 1064 and

          5  Reso 1067. And at this time we will proceed with the

          6  testimonies of those who would like and wish to give

          7  us information, on the biggest secret keeping

          8  Manhattan, the shutdown of the Veteran Hospital.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to say

         11  we've also been joined by Council Member Helen

         12  Sears, a member of the Health Committee; Council

         13  Member Mike Nelson from Brooklyn, who as I said, is

         14  the prime sponsor of the resolution in support of

         15  Senator Schumer's Veterans' Equal Treatment Act.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We will proceed

         17  now with the panel that is coming to testify first.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Mr. Andrew

         19  Brotman, will you please come forward.

         20                 Good afternoon. Will you please raise

         21  your right hand.

         22                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         23  testimony you will provide here today will be

         24  truthful in all respects?

         25                 DR. BROTMAN: I do.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          3  Please proceed. State your name for the record and

          4  your affiliation.

          5                 DR. BROTMAN: Andrew Brotman, New York

          6  University School of Medicine.

          7                 Good afternoon, Madam Chairs Quinn

          8  and Lopez, and the rest of the Council members. I am

          9  Andrew Brotman, Vice Dean for Clinical and Hospital

         10  Affairs, at the New York University School of

         11  Medicine.

         12                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         13  appear before you to share the views of NYU on the

         14  proposed CARES' plan for the Veterans' Integrated

         15  Services Network, as it relates to the Manhattan

         16  facility.

         17                 The Manhattan VA has been at the

         18  forefront of Clinical Care and Research for Veterans

         19  across the region. This campus now hosts Centers of

         20  Excellence that the VA nationally itself has

         21  declared a Center of Excellence in several tertiary

         22  care subspecialties:

         23                 Cardiac surgery. You cannot get

         24  cardiac surgery any place else in this region.

         25                 Neurosurgery. You cannot get brain
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          2  surgery anyplace else at this region.

          3                 Cardiovascular surgery, and cardiac

          4  catheterization. If you have chest pain and need a

          5  cardiac catheterization, you can't get it any place

          6  else except for Manhattan VA in the Veterans'

          7  system.

          8                 Comprehensive rehabilitation services

          9  are so important at this time where there are limb

         10  dysfunctions. You can't get that except at the

         11  Manhattan VA.

         12                 We have the Center of Excellence in

         13  HIV and AIDS in this whole region. We have the

         14  Center for Dialysis, and we are also a major mental

         15  health service.

         16                 The Manhattan VA therefore is a

         17  regional center for these tertiary services, serving

         18  patients from throughout the region, including parts

         19  of New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Upstate New York.

         20  These designations of excellence and these programs

         21  are dependent on the quality of the NYU School of

         22  Medicine's faculty and training program.

         23                 We oppose the changes that the CARES'

         24  Commission has proposed for the Manhattan VA,

         25  because such a closure would threaten the access
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          2  that many veterans in our City and State have to the

          3  excellent health care they deserve.

          4                 It is a mistake to think that these

          5  centers that now exist in Manhattan can be

          6  replicated somewhere else without great cost to

          7  recruit the same level of excellent facilities and

          8  faculty and physicians and residents that the NYU

          9  School of Medicine has built around the Manhattan

         10  VA.

         11                 I think it's unappreciated that in

         12  these other facilities these services do not exist.

         13  They do not exist. The historic relationship between

         14  NYU and the Manhattan VA began 50 years ago in 1954

         15  when the doors to the VA facility were open. This

         16  partnership is built upon the integration of all of

         17  NYU's programs with the Manhattan VA. This

         18  integration includes all our residency training

         19  programs, as well as research conducted by faculty

         20  jointly with the VA.

         21                 Over the years we have been working

         22  together tirelessly to develop one of the most

         23  respected clinical educational and medical research

         24  institutions in the world, along with other

         25  affiliates, Bellevue and NYU Hospital Center. The
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          2  level of high quality care available to veterans in

          3  our area is a result of this partnership and is

          4  indisputable. The future of these residency training

          5  programs, especially the surgical program, would be

          6  in jeopardy if the CARES' proposal advances.

          7                 In addition, the School of Medicine

          8  and the Manhattan VA are involved in approximately

          9  $10 million in joint research. A large portion of

         10  this research is funded by the National Institutes

         11  of Health. This brings resources to Lower Manhattan.

         12  The NYU School of Medicine Faculty has integrated

         13  its research efforts at the VA, which include

         14  occupancy of three floors of research space, all of

         15  these projects are in jeopardy if the Manhattan

         16  Campus Program moves to Brooklyn.

         17                 For all that they have given to their

         18  country, veterans deserve ease of access to these

         19  high quality programs and specialists. As American

         20  troops travel the globe to strike at terrorism, this

         21  is no time to consider reducing their future access

         22  to high quality health care.

         23                 The issue of resources is also a

         24  central question. The notion of closing the

         25  Manhattan VA and relocating its programs elsewhere
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          2  is based on faulty fiscal assumptions. The sale of

          3  the Manhattan property which is potentially proposed

          4  is not going to cover the cost of this move. The

          5  cost to implement the CARES' plan in VISN 3 is

          6  likely to be hundreds of millions of dollars,

          7  because these programs don't exist any place else

          8  and you need to build the facilities and hire the

          9  staff to do it.

         10                 There is a real concern that this

         11  funding will not be appropriated by Congress and the

         12  plan will not be implemented. That, in fact, is

         13  exactly what happened in Chicago. They closed the

         14  hospital in Chicago with a grand plan, the money was

         15  not appropriated and it just closed.

         16                 In conclusion, the loss of the

         17  Manhattan VA as a close affiliate will impair the

         18  excellence at the NYU School of Medicine, and impair

         19  the excellence at the VA. Such a loss will force NYU

         20  to reduce training programs and reduce its

         21  workforce. VA stipends are crucial for the support

         22  of faculty with joint appointments.

         23                 This action would terminate the

         24  research that is supported by federal funds, and

         25  that is of utmost importance to veterans. Most
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          2  importantly it would end the access to quality

          3  tertiary care to dedicated vets, provided by the six

          4  centers of excellence at the Manhattan VA.

          5                 Thank you for your interest and the

          6  views of NYU School of Medicine, and we appreciate

          7  the fact that you're holding a forum on this, which

          8  is a big secret and, clearly, not understood.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I thank you so

         10  much for coming to testify. I know that in the other

         11  hearing we have, it was not possible for NYU to be

         12  here to testify and you sent a representative who

         13  gave me some information that was very useful.

         14                 Having you here now is a special

         15  treat for me because in the process I have been

         16  preoccupied with the closure of this hospital or the

         17  reduction of this hospital, and the implications and

         18  the consequences that this will have in the

         19  interrelationship between Bellevue, NYU and the

         20  Veterans Hospital.

         21                 I needed to know certain things that

         22  are important for the purpose of me understanding

         23  this issue. Did NYU was notified officially prior to

         24  the care report coming out that they were planning

         25  to do this?
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          2                 DR. BROTMAN: Absolutely not. Our

          3  first notification was the article in the New York

          4  Times where it did not mention this. We then

          5  received the report and it was buried in the

          6  appendix, and so you had to go to the appendix in

          7  order to figure out that this recommendation was

          8  made. And then our next invitation was to the Bronx

          9  hearing, and the next time I saw you was on the

         10  street in front of the Veterans Administration.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then NYU, you can

         12  say this officially to us that NYU did not receive

         13  any official notification or invitation prior to the

         14  CARE report coming out to speak about this, give

         15  that information about what is your

         16  interrelationship, et cetera, et cetera?

         17                 DR. BROTMAN: Right. We were asked to

         18  give information in concert with the New York Harbor

         19  VA, which we did, and in concert with the

         20  Administration of the VA we submitted a report. That

         21  report was apparently ignored and the CARES'

         22  recommendation bore no relationship to that report,

         23  and we were not notified until the report was

         24  issued.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Did you ever know
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          2  in advance of meetings happening with this CARE

          3  commission?

          4                 DR. BROTMAN: No, not in Washington,

          5  and we were not invited to testify.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: This is absurd. I

          7  mean, this is really incredible. Then when the CARE

          8  report came out, you and I basically saw it at the

          9  same time --

         10                 DR. BROTMAN: Same time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Although you have

         12  a relationship with the Veterans Administration --

         13                 DR. BROTMAN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That will grant

         15  the need for the CARE report to talk to you,

         16  correct?

         17                 DR. BROTMAN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Because to make

         19  this CARE report, without you being involved, is a

         20  report that is flawless.

         21                 DR. BROTMAN: It is a report that is

         22  based on assumptions which are entirely irrelevant

         23  to New York City.

         24                 For example, one of the basic

         25  assumptions were that if a hospital was within 120
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          2  miles of another hospital, that that was an

          3  appropriate level of coverage for the veterans in

          4  that area.

          5                 While that may be true of, I won't

          6  name a state because I may make a mistake, it

          7  certainly is not true in New York City, and the

          8  notion that two hospitals are 12 miles apart, which

          9  the Brooklyn Center and the Manhattan Center are,

         10  does not mean that one or the other is irrelevant

         11  and unnecessary.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then had you had

         13  the opportunity to meet with anyone in the

         14  administration of the VA Hospital in a setting where

         15  a conversation will happen to discuss this proposal?

         16                 DR. BROTMAN: Only our local VA

         17  hospital, and VISN 3, and the truth is, we're on the

         18  same page.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Exactly.

         20                 In other words, with the CARE

         21  commission or anybody at the level of the federal

         22  level who are the one who are making decisions in

         23  here, no conversation.

         24                 DR. BROTMAN: No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No communication.

                                                            22

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 DR. BROTMAN: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No meetings. No

          4  opportunity for NYU to sit with the federal

          5  government who is in charge of doing this, to tell

          6  them what you're doing is ridiculous. Never?

          7                 DR. BROTMAN: Never.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can you just

         10  review again, or restate, because I was very struck

         11  by it, the services that exist at 23rd Street --

         12                 DR. BROTMAN: That don't exist any

         13  place else.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That don't exist

         15  any place else --

         16                 DR. BROTMAN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And when you say

         18  they don't exist anywhere else, that means not at

         19  the Bayridge Hospital?

         20                 DR. BROTMAN: Not at the Bayridge

         21  Hospital, not at the Bronx Hospital, and frequently

         22  not in New Jersey.

         23                 Heart surgery. This is the only

         24  center in the area with heart surgery. There is no

         25  heart surgery in Bayridge, there is no heart surgery
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          2  in Brooklyn.

          3                 Cardiac catheterization. Very routine

          4  investigation of the heart, if you have chest pain.

          5  Doesn't exist any place else. There is no program.

          6  Understand the facility cost for just those two

          7  programs, probably $100 million.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: To relocate you

          9  mean?

         10                 DR. BROTMAN: To build them, and

         11  relocate, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Two-hundred?

         13                 DR. BROTMAN: Probably $100 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: To relocate.

         15                 DR. BROTMAN: Just for those two

         16  programs to build, and that doesn't include staff.

         17                 Neurosurgery, brain surgery, the only

         18  place you can get brain surgery, if you're a veteran

         19  in this area. Comprehensive rehabilitation services,

         20  there are rehabilitation services elsewhere, but

         21  specifically prosthetic devices, this is the center

         22  in Manhattan.

         23                 HIV and AIDS. This is the center.

         24                 Dialysis, kidney failure, this is the

         25  center. And although not designated as a center, a

                                                            24

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  significant psychiatric inpatient and outpatient

          3  facility, which is four times bigger than the one in

          4  Brooklyn.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I ask that

          6  question because I don't believe one -- I think the

          7  presentation of the federal government on this, such

          8  that there has been a presentation is almost like,

          9  well don't worry, it's no big deal, you're just

         10  going to go to Brooklyn now.

         11                 DR. BROTMAN: Exactly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: As if it's the

         13  same thing.

         14                 DR. BROTMAN: Exactly.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And to hear from

         16  you, a medical professional, that, you know, let's

         17  set aside that it's not so close, but just for a

         18  second, it's not the same thing.

         19                 DR. BROTMAN: Not the same thing. The

         20  Manhattan VA is a tertiary care referral center.

         21  Several of the other VAs are not, and that is not

         22  either better or worse.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         24                 DR. BROTMAN: It just is.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.
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          2                 And it's also I think important to

          3  note that things that you just listed that are in

          4  Manhattan and not in Brooklyn are not, you know,

          5  it's not like there's a research unit for some

          6  incredibly rare disease that one out of 500,000

          7  people have.

          8                 DR. BROTMAN: No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know, they're

         10  very core services that people would need,

         11  particularly veterans, when you speak of things like

         12  comprehensive care, prosthetics, brain injuries,

         13  tragically those are services that veterans

         14  absolutely need.

         15                 DR. BROTMAN: And the reason they're

         16  at a central place is because you need to do enough

         17  of these in order to develop and expertise. If you

         18  spread them around everywhere, it would be both poor

         19  quality and costly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, that's a

         21  very good point, too.

         22                 Could you just tell a little bit more

         23  about the research money that would be lost?

         24                 DR. BROTMAN: Yes, we have, NYU and

         25  the Manhattan VA have $10 million worth, per year
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          2  worth of research money of which the vast majority

          3  comes from the federal government, the National

          4  Institute of Health, which is the toughest research

          5  money to get, and is carried out physically on the

          6  campuses of the Manhattan VA in that facility. If

          7  that facility is gone, that research is gone. That

          8  results not only in breakthroughs and medical

          9  research, but the employment of hundreds and

         10  hundreds of people.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Could you be more

         12  specific about what kind of research we're talking

         13  about?

         14                 DR. BROTMAN: There is research in

         15  cardiology, there is research in urology, a big

         16  research program in HIV, and a significant research

         17  program in rehabilitation. Those are the major

         18  projects.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know, it's

         20  even more upsetting, this proposal, hearing your

         21  testimony because obviously, you know, first and

         22  foremost is our concern about the veterans and the

         23  care they're going to get. But when you tell us

         24  about the research, you tell us about the

         25  facilities, or, you know, the cardiac care, HIV,
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          2  prosthetic rehabilitation, and then we talk about

          3  residents not being able to get this training, which

          4  means there may not be anywhere else they can go to

          5  get this training, we're talking about not just

          6  reducing the care to veterans, but we're talking

          7  about reducing the number of specialists, of highly

          8  trained people who are going to be in the medical

          9  workforce, you know, minimally in the greater New

         10  York area, but maybe even beyond that, and so we're

         11  talking about having an impact far beyond the

         12  veterans, we're talking about an impact that really

         13  will affect the quality of doctors in New York City.

         14                 DR. BROTMAN: We are. I haven't

         15  stressed the impact on NYU, because I think it's

         16  more important to stress the impact on the veteran.

         17  But we have this program between NYU, Bellevue and

         18  VA, which is an integrated program. We view this as

         19  a superblock of medical care, that doctors, both in

         20  training and attending physicians, go back and forth

         21  so the veterans get the same level of care at the VA

         22  as they get at the private hospital, and the New

         23  York City residents who go to Bellevue get the same

         24  level of care that they get at the private hospital,

         25  all informed by a joint research program and
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          2  residency program, and this would put a significant

          3  hole in what has been a marvelous series of

          4  affiliations for 54 years.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just think that

          6  is so important and just another reason why this

          7  idea is just so terrible.

          8                 I just want to add that in addition

          9  to the medical school, there's also a similar

         10  relationship with the NYU Dental School.

         11                 DR. BROTMAN: That's correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And they were not

         13  able to send somebody here today, but I just want

         14  that for the record, to know that the same impact

         15  that there's going to be on the medical care for the

         16  veterans will be as it relates to dental care and

         17  also the same thing as it relates to training

         18  dentists --

         19                 DR. BROTMAN: Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Because they

         21  rotate through as well.

         22                 Council Member Sears had a question,

         23  I believe?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 I don't believe that we have this

          3  information, but do you have any idea of the

          4  veterans who were there from World War II, the

          5  Korean War, the Vietnamese War?

          6                 DR. BROTMAN: The percentages I don't

          7  have. I don't have the percentages. All are

          8  representative, of course. There are significant

          9  number of inpatients every day at the Manhattan VA

         10  and I think incredibly large ambulatory program

         11  representing all those wars. I don't have the

         12  percentages.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But we

         14  certainly still have those that are in dire need,

         15  and from all those different areas.

         16                 DR. BROTMAN: Most definitely. And not

         17  to mention the Gulf War, the Gulf War in '91, there

         18  are a significant number of vets there as well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I can certainly

         20  attest to what you do at that facility. My uncle was

         21  someone who had to have his heart surgery there, and

         22  he was able to live a very good life for a long time

         23  and I don't think he would have considered going any

         24  place else, he depended so much on that facility.

         25                 A couple of things. Madam Chair,
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          2  first I think that we have our representatives in

          3  Congress and obviously they are hitting a hard wall,

          4  and I really think that they need our support here

          5  from the City, and we should march our bodies down

          6  to Washington, D.C., and we should be shouting loud

          7  and clear what an outrage it is to do this. Because

          8  when they close this, they're not going to move

          9  them, and you're absolutely right, from what I have

         10  seen on many visits to that hospital, and I have

         11  been there very often, that you cannot replace what

         12  you do.

         13                 Distances in New York City cannot be

         14  measured by Main Street Idaho Falls, because we have

         15  a very different interlocking system. And if they

         16  were to close this, and I may be very presumptuous

         17  in saying this, I doubt very much if they're going

         18  to travel those distances, which means that they

         19  are, and rightfully so, look to the HHC system to

         20  provide the services, and you know what? I look at

         21  this and it will sound hard, but it's not because I

         22  have great empathy and believe strongly that this

         23  facility should not close, and I believe that they

         24  will hear our voices loud and clear. But remember,

         25  Committee members, that once again it looks to me

                                                            31

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  like the federal government is really saying to hell

          3  with New York City, and I really think that that is

          4  an outrage, because all of these veterans have to be

          5  treated in this City, and it behooves us to do that.

          6  They're not going to go and travel any place else to

          7  do that, and they're certainly not going to Jersey.

          8                 So, I think that we have to be very

          9  loud and clear and do what we can to see that it

         10  doesn't close and to support our congressional

         11  delegation in their fight to keep it open. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to add

         14  for the record, something from the CARES' Commission

         15  site visit of the 23rd facility. In their own site

         16  visits, the people who are proposing this, they

         17  said, and I quote, "additionally, due to the

         18  complexities of travel within the New York

         19  metropolitan area, eliminating patient care at this

         20  site may have a significant impact on the veterans

         21  population in this network." So, by their own

         22  admission it was a bad idea.

         23                 It went on to say that the network

         24  also emphasized that the New York New Jersey area is

         25  highly urban and although four of the facilities in
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          2  the network fall within the close proximity

          3  perimeters of the CARES' process, that the

          4  difficulty of traveling between the boroughs of New

          5  York and throughout the network make this market

          6  unique and should be considered within the context

          7  of a highly urban area.

          8                 Commissioners inquired about the

          9  optimizing space utilization by expanding clinic

         10  hours to evenings and weekends, Network Leadership

         11  commented that they had attempted to implement but

         12  that veterans did not respond favorably to this

         13  initiative.

         14                 So, even in their own documentation,

         15  when you pour through the massive amount of paper

         16  they hide it within, they are saying what Council

         17  Member Sears and others are saying, that New York,

         18  it's different, not a straight line from point A to

         19  point B, and that is a bad idea.

         20                 DR. BROTMAN: Just finally, I would

         21  point out that despite this turmoil two weeks ago

         22  there was a JCAHO site visit of the Manhattan VA

         23  which scored a 95.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's terrific.

         25                 DR. BROTMAN: And it was an
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          2  outstanding performance, despite this turmoil.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I just want to

          4  recognize that Council Member Jim Gennaro is here,

          5  and if he can please, the handsome man that he is,

          6  introduce himself, for people to know his face and

          7  look at him.

          8                 I just said that you are a handsome

          9  man.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you introduce

         13  yourself.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: My name is

         15  Jim Gennaro. I represent the 24th District in

         16  Eastern Queens, and I'm a proud member of this

         17  Committee, the Committee on -- Margarita's

         18  Committee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Also Council

         20  Member Jackson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I'm just

         22  a newly-elected Council member representing Northern

         23  Manhattan.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And Council Member

         25  Stewart.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I am Council

          3  Member Stewart, Central Brooklyn, I represent the

          4  largest borough, the best and the largest borough in

          5  the City of New York, in Central Brooklyn.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Here we go. Turn

          7  the mic off.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I mean, these

          9  people from Brooklyn have a serious problem.

         10                 Council Member Dilan.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: The people from

         12  Brooklyn have a serious problem finding a seat

         13  around here.

         14                 Council Member Erik Martin Dilan,

         15  Brooklyn.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: One point that I

         17  want to bring back, the neurological facilities,

         18  beside this particular place that the neurological

         19  facility exists any other place beside Brooklyn and

         20  Queens and the Bronx, that any neurological facility

         21  for veterans exists in a proximity like New Jersey,

         22  Connecticut.

         23                 DR. BROTMAN: To the best of my

         24  knowledge, there is no other neurological surgery

         25  facility for veterans in New York metropolitan area
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          2  or New Jersey, and not in Fairfield County of

          3  Connecticut either.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And the other

          5  question I have, can you explain a little more what

          6  is the facility that you operate for rehabilitation

          7  purposes? Can you be more specific about it, what it

          8  composes, what it's about?

          9                 DR. BROTMAN: Well, in addition to

         10  more traditional beds and therapists and treatment,

         11  there is also a laboratory that makes artificial

         12  limbs and does the biomechanical engineering for

         13  artificial limbs and prosthetic devices, and then

         14  helps people accommodate to those limbs. A fairly

         15  specialized facility, also very much tied in, like

         16  all our other services, with the Rusk Institution of

         17  Rehabilitation Medicine and Bellevue.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Does that

         19  particular unit serve just the population who go to

         20  23rd Street, or you produce also prostheses and

         21  things --

         22                 DR. BROTMAN: For the region.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: For the region.

         24                 DR. BROTMAN: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And it's only in
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          2  there that these exist.

          3                 DR. BROTMAN: And that's the VAs'

          4  designated center of excellence.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, this is

          6  fascinating.

          7                 Therefore, if this will go through,

          8  that particular unit will be basically destroyed.

          9                 DR. BROTMAN: Well, what the CARES'

         10  Commission would say, not to defend them, is that it

         11  would move. The problem is, in order for it to move,

         12  you have to have the facility, build the facility,

         13  spend that money and recruit the staff, because we

         14  believe that it's highly unlikely that the

         15  physicians and others who are involved in this are

         16  going to move.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Would you say that

         18  many of the injuries that veterans suffer, as a

         19  result of war, are connected more than anything to

         20  loss of physical parts?

         21                 DR. BROTMAN: Particularly the most

         22  recent wars, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then if what we're

         24  talking about here is veterans been taking care

         25  after they go to war and come back home, hopefully
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          2  alive, but not in one piece, then this is one

          3  critical unit, correct?

          4                 DR. BROTMAN: Yes, it is.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Correct?

          6                 DR. BROTMAN: Absolutely right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you. I

         10  just wanted to make a comment to Co-Chair Margarita

         11  Lopez that this facility is the Hallmark of what is

         12  done within veterans facilities, because not every

         13  hospital, and you know I'm very familiar with health

         14  care, not every hospital provides the same care.

         15  They just don't have the equipment, they don't have

         16  the means. So, when we have a facility in Manhattan

         17  that can provide all these services, and then for

         18  the federal government to really propose closing it

         19  means that this kind of service for them they will

         20  not get any place else, and to strip the City and to

         21  strip the veterans of these services is just

         22  deplorable, and I don't see how in good conscience

         23  we can sit down until it remains open. I truly mean

         24  that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I want to thank
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          2  you for your testimony. I was waiting for this

          3  opportunity, you don't know how much. I know it was

          4  difficult for NYU to be here before, and from my

          5  heart I want to let you know that I have been

          6  concerned about this issue from the moment that I

          7  learned it, because I am concerned about the damage

          8  that is going to be done to Bellevue Hospital. That

          9  is a hospital that I have very close to my heart. I

         10  am concerned about the damage that this proposal is

         11  going to do to eliminating graduates from NYU to be

         12  able to serve the nation, and I am extremely

         13  concerned about how the Veterans Administration has

         14  chosen this hospital without taking in consideration

         15  the well-being and the needs of veterans. Therefore,

         16  I am not going to let this issue go. And we're going

         17  to be on top of this issue until then.

         18                 One of the things that I want you to

         19  know is that I am going to be talking with Council

         20  Member Christine Quinn and see how both of us can

         21  put perhaps a report on this issue, send it to the

         22  federal government, because in my opinion, part of

         23  the issue here has been the lack of knowledge of

         24  this happening; number two, not allowing the public

         25  to comment on this; and number three, that the
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          2  delegation that we have from Congress has not been

          3  able to move forward this issue and they continue to

          4  encounter a concrete wall.

          5                 Then you should be reassured that we

          6  are not going to let this issue die until this

          7  building is safe and the services are not diminished

          8  or touched in any way.

          9                 DR. BROTMAN: Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Oh, can you leave us your testimony?

         13  Thank you. You can give it to me, sir. Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next two

         16  witnesses are going to be Lee Covino, from the

         17  Staten Island Borough President's Office and Denny

         18  Meyer, from American Veterans for Equal Rights New

         19  York.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, he'll be

         21  back in ten minutes, fine. So then if Denny would

         22  come up.

         23                 You know what perhaps we'll do is

         24  just call also to join Mr. Meyer, Jay Johnson. Is he

         25  in the room?
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          2                 Okay, great. And George McAnanama.

          3  Great.  If you could join the panel. And just before

          4  we hear from this panel, we are going to have a vote

          5  in the Health Committee on Reso 1067, which is a

          6  resolution calling upon the United States Department

          7  of Veterans Affairs to maintain current levels of

          8  inpatient and outpatient medical care at the

          9  Manhattan Veterans Affairs Medical Center.

         10                 There is also a resolution that will

         11  be voted on a little bit later in the hearing within

         12  the Mental Health Committee.

         13                 This is a vote for the Health

         14  Committee on Reso 1067, so if you guys could just

         15  hang on for a couple of seconds. Thank you.

         16                 And we've been joined by Council

         17  Member Phil Reed, a member of the Manhattan Health

         18  Committee.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Stewart.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I vote aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of six in

          8  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

          9  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         10                 Council Members, please sign the

         11  Committee report.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you for your

         13  patience, and whatever order you'd like to go in,

         14  and go right ahead.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Before you

         16  begin, you would please all raise your right hands.

         17                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         18  testimony you will provide here today will be

         19  truthful in all respects.

         20                 MR. MEYER: I do.

         21                 MR. JOHNSON: I do.

         22                 MR. McANANAMA: I do.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Before you

         24  speak, can you please state your names for the

         25  record, as well as your affiliation? Thank you.
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          2                 You may proceed.

          3                 MR. MEYER: Committee Chairs and

          4  Committee members, I'm Denny Meyer, I am Vice

          5  President for American Affairs for American Veterans

          6  for Equal Rights, a national veterans association,

          7  representing the needs of over 1 million lesbian,

          8  gay, bisexual, transgender and true spirit American

          9  veterans who have served their country honorably and

         10  courageously in World War II, Korea, Vietnam,

         11  Persian Gulf, Afghanistan and now in Iraq. Those 1

         12  million are part of the 25 million living American

         13  veterans who served their country and now rely on

         14  the promise of their government to repay their

         15  sacrifice by providing for their medical needs.

         16                 Many are elderly and disabled, and

         17  without private health insurance, New York City with

         18  one of the largest veteran communities in our

         19  nation, needs expanded service, not a reduction in

         20  service.

         21                 Every day I receive complaints from

         22  veterans in New York City who have had to wait weeks

         23  or months for an appointment, and then on the day of

         24  their appointment, they have to wait many hours to

         25  be seen by a doctor in already overcrowded VA New
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          2  York Harbor Health Care System Facilities.

          3                 The same doctors who serve outpatient

          4  clinics, also take turns working inpatient clinics,

          5  inpatient wards, during which time they're

          6  unavailable for outpatient services.

          7                 So-called consolidation of inpatient

          8  services in Brooklyn will further reduce the already

          9  inadequate staffing, it will further reduce

         10  accessibility of care, and it will

         11  disproportionately discriminate against disabled and

         12  older veterans without viable transportation when

         13  they are in need of urgent care.

         14                 Many New York City street people are

         15  veterans, some suffering psychological illnesses

         16  resulting for more service.

         17                 Failure to provide accessible VA

         18  services to these veterans will simply exacerbate

         19  the homeless problem in New York City. It will

         20  increase the burden on other human service

         21  facilities in the City to provide the needed

         22  services thereby shifting the fiduciary

         23  responsibility from the federal government to the

         24  City of New York.

         25                 I'm outraged at the idea that our
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          2  government would reduce access to medical care for

          3  its veterans at a time when $87 billion is about to

          4  be spent to maintain our military presence overseas.

          5  I think most Americans would agree that it's at

          6  least equally essential to authorize whatever amount

          7  necessary to care for those now, sacrificially

          8  serving once they return and to keep the promise of

          9  care made to those who have served our nation since

         10  World War II.

         11                 Now, those are my prepared remarks.

         12  But I just want to add, I just had surgery at the

         13  Brooklyn VA to have a tumor removed, on a Friday.

         14  And the way things are done these days, I was sent

         15  home the same day to recover on my own, with some

         16  instructions that if you have a temperature and it's

         17  too high or this or that, give us a call, and of

         18  course if you give them a call, what they're going

         19  to say is, well, come in. I'm supposed to go from

         20  Queens all the way back to Brooklyn, Bayridge? I

         21  mean, theoretically I could afford the $30 to go to

         22  Manhattan VA, but to Brooklyn? I don't think so,

         23  even if I was healthy enough. You know, if I had a

         24  fever of 104 as a reaction to surgery, there would

         25  be no way to get back to Brooklyn. So, this is the
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          2  kind of impact that would occur, would have occurred

          3  to me had they, you know, closed the Manhattan

          4  facility, and I had a bad reaction to my surgery, it

          5  would have been pretty bad.

          6                 Just to close my remarks, I want to

          7  thank the Committees and especially Council Members

          8  Margarita Lopez and Christine Quinn, for their

          9  leadership in holding this meeting, and for their

         10  ongoing commitment to social justice for all New

         11  Yorkers.

         12                 MR. JOHNSON: Good afternoon, ladies

         13  and gentlemen of the panel. My name is Jay F.

         14  Johnson, and I'm a Vietnam veteran, disabled veteran

         15  of 1967/'68, and I represent Veterans Quality of

         16  Life Access Network, organized by Mr. Barry

         17  Campbell, who works also at the VA, Manhattan VA

         18  Center.

         19                 We work with veterans in the streets

         20  who are homeless and various disabilities and give

         21  them the information that we can get aid from the

         22  23rd Street VA. Compensation and pension is a big

         23  problem with the veterans out here. In order to

         24  receive, you know, proper housing and necessary

         25  needs, they need compensation and pension. There are
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          2  disabled veterans out there and they are still from

          3  the Vietnam War, and the wars that are going on

          4  prior to that.

          5                 Mr. Barry Campbell organized this

          6  organization to help the veterans come into the

          7  hospital, and receive the proper cares and in turn

          8  receive, applying for their pensions and

          9  compensations, which they so readily deserve and won

         10  in the wars this country has been involved in.

         11                 Manhattan, the Manhattan Center, as

         12  this gentleman said, is the hub of the VA system

         13  here in New York, and I think it's a travesty that

         14  the government will even consider closing this

         15  facility and without the concern of the veterans

         16  here in the New York area, not only in Manhattan but

         17  there are veterans that come from all over the

         18  country to New York by word of mouth, which we have

         19  an access network which we notify them about their

         20  benefits and medical attention that is available to

         21  them, and they've come from all over the country to

         22  the Manhattan Center.

         23                 The compensation and pension of this

         24  department, of this facility run by Mr. Campbell, is

         25  highly understaffed. He's the only person in there
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          2  that works on your claims, and we feel as though

          3  that without him, and the VA facility doesn't want

          4  to give him the proper help in his office, if you go

          5  into his office on 23rd Street, it's highly crowded,

          6  you wait two, three hours to even get an interview

          7  with Mr. Campbell, but it's well worth the wait. And

          8  we feel as though, not only are they trying to close

          9  this facility down, but they're trying to stop the

         10  compensation from going through the VA facility for

         11  them to get their claims into the regional office

         12  and acted on.

         13                 I think this is a large, you know, a

         14  large part on the federal government, that we

         15  consider closing down this hospital. And I'd like to

         16  thank the panel for stepping up and trying to do

         17  something about it, and I hope that, like the lady

         18  said, I hope that we do decide to go to Washington

         19  and speak about this travesty to our veterans here.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 MR. McANANAMA: Good afternoon, Madam

         22  Chair, Joint Committees. I'd like to thank Chair

         23  Lopez for her kind, sympathetic remarks to the

         24  people of Staten Island. I'm from Staten Island, and

         25  I'm sure that I probably knew some of the victims,
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          2  though I'm not sure of that yet.

          3                 Thanks again for this opportunity to

          4  speak. My name is George McAnanama, and I'm here on

          5  behalf of Veterans for Peace, the New York City

          6  Chapter. We represent veterans from all wars back to

          7  World War II.

          8                 I wish to add our voice to the

          9  growing number of veterans disrespected by the

         10  current Federal Bush Administration policies with

         11  regard to the CARES' Commission, a proposed

         12  realignment of the VA Health Care System.

         13                 This troubling rush to war in Iraq

         14  with few facts and evidence to support it, is

         15  creating more dead and wounded service men and women

         16  every day.

         17                 I'm a Vietnam veteran and I served

         18  from 1966 to 1968. My father served in World War II

         19  in the US Army for five years, from 1941 to '46. My

         20  dad used the VA system extensively, both First

         21  Avenue VA Hospital and the Brooklyn VA Hospital, due

         22  to the fact that he had insufficient health care

         23  coverage from his employer. I, myself, had surgery

         24  at the First Avenue Hospital in the Spring of 1973

         25  while unemployed.
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          2                 This is a system in need of reform,

          3  no doubt. But the reform should be in the nature of

          4  more doctors and more health care services, so it

          5  doesn't take six months or longer to get an

          6  appointment.

          7                 David Klein, VFP's national

          8  president, spoke eloquently at a recent Council

          9  hearing, about his discovery that a referral to a

         10  podiatrist, supposedly located on another floor in

         11  the First Avenue VA Hospital, was actually in an

         12  office now relocated in the Brooklyn VA Hospital.

         13                 My question was, why don't both

         14  facilities podiatric clinics, at least? That sounds

         15  reasonable to me. Why should they and other vets

         16  have to travel to Brooklyn when they're already in a

         17  VA facility right here in Manhattan.

         18                 I'm likewise perplexed by the current

         19  debate over whether we should spend $87 billion in

         20  Iraq. Most of that funding going through military

         21  occupation and attached to limited or no bid

         22  contracts, is politically connected to the current

         23  administration.

         24                 I'm appalled that this gold rush,

         25  which doesn't address the true needs of the Iraqi
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          2  people and spits in the face of the troops and the

          3  veterans. I think this behavior is downright

          4  unpatriotic.

          5                 I think we need an exit strategy,

          6  which includes bringing home our troops and

          7  reparations to the long suffering Iraqi people.

          8  There are no facts in evidence supporting the claims

          9  of weapons of mass destruction in Iraq, or any link

         10  to Al Qaeda, or any Iraqi involvement in the

         11  horrific events of the 9/11 attacks on the World

         12  Trade Center and the Pentagon.

         13                 I rise in support of resolution 1027.

         14  I also support Council Resolution 1067.

         15                 On Resolution 1064, Resolution urging

         16  Congress to adopt the House Representatives bill 270

         17  and Senate 967. With your kind indulgence and with

         18  my humble apologies, I think there is a better bill

         19  with many more co-sponsors, that's HR 2318, assured

         20  funding for Veterans' Health Care Act of 2003.

         21                 This bill is sponsored by Lane Evans,

         22  the ranking democrat of the House Veterans Affairs

         23  Committee, and with the Council's indulgence, we ask

         24  the Council to particularly look at this bill and

         25  possibly amend the resolution to reflect the current

                                                            51

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  realities of the congressional landscape and garner

          3  more support to establish a more stable funding

          4  stream for the Veterans Administration to accomplish

          5  its vital mission to adequate serve veterans' needs

          6  fully and efficiently.

          7                 In closing, thank you to the Council

          8  Committees and Speaker Miller and Public Advocate

          9  Gotbaum and all the other elected officials for

         10  their support and for this opportunity to speak out

         11  on so vital an issue to our City and to its large

         12  veterans community.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I just want to

         14  find out if any of you were invited to testify in

         15  the hearing in the Bronx?

         16                 MR. McANANAMA: Not as yet.

         17                 MR. MEYER: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you say it to

         19  the microphone, please.

         20                 MR. JOHNSON: No, Ma'am, I was not.

         21                 MR. MEYER: No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Did you receive

         23  any prior notification about that hearing in the

         24  Bronx?

         25                 MR. MEYER: No.
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          2                 MR. JOHNSON: No, I didn't. I heard

          3  about it the day before the hearing was taking

          4  place.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Do you know that

          6  that was the only hearing that was going to be

          7  available for anybody of New York City to testify on

          8  that?

          9                 MR. JOHNSON: Well, I was at the

         10  hearing. I want to Kingsbridge that day to the

         11  hearing and that's when I found out that we weren't

         12  able to speak. We were just sitting there listening

         13  to what was going on, and that's when I really found

         14  out what the impact of what was going on, because at

         15  first they were talking about four hospitals, then

         16  somewhere along the line between then and the rally

         17  that was there Tuesday, last week, at 23rd Street,

         18  three of them had been eliminated from the drawing

         19  board to be cut.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That means that

         21  the report, the CARE report, was not to acknowledge

         22  you until this issue become in the newspapers.

         23                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes. No, I wasn't aware

         24  of that, no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You were not aware
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          2  of the report until --

          3                 MR. JOHNSON: Until it came out, no.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: It came out from

          5  the movement that we have been generating.

          6                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, Ma'am.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Before that you

          8  were unaware of a commission evaluating the

          9  possibility of closing this facility.

         10                 MR. JOHNSON: No, I was not. No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And you are a

         12  veteran who belong to an organization?

         13                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, Ma'am.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Who represent

         15  veterans?

         16                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, Ma'am.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But you didn't get

         18  that information?

         19                 MR. JOHNSON: We got no information.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How about you,

         21  Denny?

         22                 MR. MEYER: No. Until you held your

         23  first news conference about this, I wasn't aware of

         24  what was going on in New York. The same thing is

         25  happening in Seattle and in other City's that I've

                                                            54

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  heard from other chapters, but I didn't know it was

          3  going on here until you alerted us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You learned when I

          5  brought it to the attention of people?

          6                 MR. MEYER: Yes.

          7                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's the way you

          9  learned?

         10                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes.

         11                 MR. McANANAMA: We learned about it

         12  about the same time you did, Council Member Lopez.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, then, during

         14  the whole time that they had been looking into the

         15  possibility of closing this facility, the Veterans

         16  of New York City who utilize these facilities were

         17  not told, were not invited to testify, to give

         18  opinions, to provide information in regard to the

         19  closing of this facility?

         20                 MR. JOHNSON: Well, as you stated, it

         21  was the best-kept secret in New York. We knew

         22  nothing about it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay.

         24                 MR. JOHNSON: We were traveling back

         25  and forth to the hospital daily and weekly basis,
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          2  and nothing about what was going on inside.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

          4                 MR. McANANAMA: That's correct. This

          5  was by invitation only, and I'm not sure who was

          6  invited.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to

          9  make a couple of quick points. One, I want to thank

         10  you all for testifying and for your work to try to

         11  keep the facility open and with the same level of

         12  services.

         13                 When Mr. Meyer testified, I think you

         14  raised an important point that I just want to

         15  underscore for the record. I think you mentioned

         16  veterans who don't have other insurance

         17  possibilities beyond the VA, you know, and if there

         18  is someone who is getting care at the VA, and is not

         19  receiving Medicaid and is perhaps not a senior

         20  citizen and that person is uninsured, once again the

         21  federal government is going to leave New York City

         22  with the bill, because that person will end up at

         23  Bellevue or the Health and Hospitals Corporation in

         24  their facility where their care, thank goodness,

         25  will be taken care of and they will be covered by
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          2  the City facilities, but the City will end up

          3  covering the bill so-to-speak for that full, for all

          4  of the care for that person. So, in moving, as we

          5  found out from hearing from NYU, really cutting

          6  services, even if they say they're relocating them,

          7  we're ending up with another impact on the City,

          8  which is more people who are uninsured, having to go

          9  to HHC for services, when this is not a time where

         10  HHC has any extra money, you know, at all.

         11                 MR. JOHNSON: Well, as a disabled

         12  veteran from the Vietnam era, one of our biggest

         13  problems is lack of information from the Veterans

         14  Administration. The information that is being

         15  provided to other facilities and the VA system is

         16  not coming through, the average veteran in the

         17  street for 30 years plus, they have been unaware of

         18  the information and the benefits available to them.

         19  Veterans Quality of Life is in the position to give

         20  them that information and help them to come into

         21  these facilities to receive the proper treatment,

         22  which a lot of it is medical treatment, if the VA

         23  Manhattan closes the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder

         24  groups also cancel out, and I think it's necessary

         25  that we hold -- you know, these groups are yelling
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          2  because a lot of Vietnam veterans are still in the

          3  streets, and they have problems that they don't know

          4  what they're suffering from, and we give them that

          5  information as to how to go about getting that, and

          6  I think the facility is very vital to the necessity

          7  of the veterans.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. That's

          9  an excellent point.

         10                 I also just want to add, regarding

         11  Reso 1064, which was introduced by Council Member

         12  Nelson, you know the desire of Member Nelson, and

         13  the Committee, is to support the bill that is most

         14  helpful to veterans. We were supposed to hear today

         15  from somebody from Senator Schumer's Office who

         16  understandably was not able to be with us today, his

         17  staff representative, because they're in Staten

         18  Island, and trying to be, obviously, of assistance

         19  out there. The statement in support of Reso 1074

         20  from Senator Schumer's Office will be given to the

         21  Committee members and become part of the record.

         22  We're not voting on that Reso today, because as I

         23  said, we want to be supportive of the best

         24  legislation on the federal level, you know, Senator

         25  Schumer obviously is in support of his, but we will
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          2  continue working with Council Member Nelson in

          3  dialoguing with all of you to make sure that we come

          4  out with the most pro-veteran legislation possible,

          5  and I am going to ask Council Member Nelson if he

          6  has anything to add.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you just stop

          8  for one second until we vote on our resolution and

          9  then you can continue and you stay sitting right

         10  there.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lopez.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: May I be

         17  excused to explain my vote?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: First, I want

         20  to apologize for just getting here, I had a

         21  conflict, I was in my district office. And, two, I

         22  know Ms. Deacon, welcome. So, to Deacon, this is a

         23  member of my community, a good supporter, and we've

         24  been talking about what's going on with this City

         25  and the country's lack of commitment to veterans,
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          2  and I appreciate you being here and I vote aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

          6  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

          7  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          8                 Council members, please sign the

          9  Committee reports.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can we leave the

         11  vote open for the purpose of the other members who

         12  are not here? Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair.

         15                 It seemed like a good thing at the

         16  moment, and that's why we want to jump on that,

         17  whatever we can do to, of course, help all of our

         18  servicemen, our warriors of the past that make this

         19  room available to all of us to be here today

         20  actually. So, we're not going to totally withdraw

         21  it, but today we will. It's going to be like laid

         22  over, if you will, and we're going to go back to the

         23  drawing board.

         24                 Because it appears that S.967 and

         25  HR270 may not be as good for all you guys and gals,

                                                            60

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  including myself, as many of you know, I'm a

          3  veteran, S.50 and HR2318 might just be the better

          4  way to go. So, I've certainly had no qualms about

          5  putting this over, even though my name is on top. I

          6  just assume have the best for all of us. I just want

          7  to thank all of you also for attending and

          8  testifying, and everybody else, and, of course, my

          9  colleague Chris Quinn and Margarita Lopez for having

         10  this today.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Any other member

         13  have any question for this panel?

         14                 Then my last question: Any one of you

         15  has used the facility on 23rd Street?

         16                 MR. MEYER: Yes.

         17                 MR. JOHNSON: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you describe

         19  the facility there for us?

         20                 MR. JOHNSON: Well, I feel the

         21  facility is a very good facility, because we get the

         22  information and the connections that is necessary to

         23  be made to better our physical and mental conditions

         24  in the hospitals, like I said, such as the post

         25  traumatic stress group therapy. Without the group

                                                            61

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  therapy, the vets are lost. Once they find out that

          3  someone else has the same problem that they have,

          4  then they tend to loosen up and come in and get the

          5  treatment and to recover. But these are 30 years

          6  down the road that we've been out there in the

          7  street, trying to survive, trying to raise families

          8  and work with a mental condition that we knew

          9  nothing about. Through post traumatic stress

         10  treatment center at Manhattan, then we have a

         11  tendency to get back on track and find out what is

         12  wrong with us and act on it.

         13                 MR. MEYER: I've used it extensively.

         14  I live in Queens, it's the closest full facility.

         15  I've gone to the emergency room where I've waited up

         16  to five hours, I have had all different kinds of

         17  treatments there, but they also then, because as I

         18  assume, I don't know for sure. The transition has

         19  already begun, they have referred me to Brooklyn, a

         20  different thing.

         21                 The Manhattan facility, you know,

         22  takes under an hour to get to, the 23rd Street bus

         23  is, of course, wheelchair accessible, I have trouble

         24  walking, Brooklyn is two and a half hours.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: For you.
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          2                 MR. MEYER: For me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And from Queens to

          4  Manhattan?

          5                 MS. MEYER: Less than an hour.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Less than an hour.

          7                 And in your case?

          8                 MR. McANANAMA: I went there once for

          9  a surgery on my right wrist, everything works fine

         10  now. They did an excellent job. That hospital

         11  probably saved my father's life in the late

         12  seventies. He had an aneurism, it burst, and they

         13  did emergency surgery at the hospital. So, I'm

         14  indebted to the people at that hospital.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And

         16  accessibility-wise, it's easy for you to get to this

         17  hospital than the other ones?

         18                 MR. McANANAMA: Well, myself, I live

         19  in Staten Island, I really don't use the facilities

         20  anymore. Brooklyn, 23rd Street is really not a big

         21  difference.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

         23                 MR. JOHNSON: I live in the Bronx and

         24  I have access to Kingsbridge VA facility but I find

         25  the treatment at Manhattan, aside from the travel,
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          2  which is only an hour out of the Bronx by the Number

          3  4 train, the treatment and extensive treatment,

          4  dental work and stuff at the Manhattan VA, is far

          5  better to me personally and people that we have sent

          6  to them, is much better than Kingsbridge. So I

          7  prefer Manhattan, because not so much the location

          8  but for the quality of service.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 I want to indicate for the purpose of

         12  the record that the CARES Commission was invited to

         13  come to testify today here, not following the

         14  example of not allowing people to come testify

         15  because they don't get invited.

         16                 This is the second time that they're

         17  getting invited to come to testify on this issue and

         18  to explain to New Yorkers why they are proposing to

         19  close the 23rd Street facility, and they decline to

         20  come.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. McANANAMA: Thank you.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Annie Brodie,

         24  Ena Thompson Judd, Catherine Benjamin-Bovell. Will

         25  you please step up to the front.

                                                            64

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 Would you please raise your right

          3  hand? Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you

          4  will provide today will be truthful in all respects?

          5                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: I do.

          6                 MS. JUDD: I do.

          7                 MS. BRODIE: I do.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          9  Please proceed. Before you begin your testimony,

         10  please state your names and affiliations for the

         11  record.

         12                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: My name is

         13  Catherine Benjamin-Bovell. I'm a registered nurse at

         14  a New York VA Medical Center.

         15                 MS. BRODIE: My name is Annie Brodie,

         16  and I'm president of Local 2904 in Manhattan.

         17                 MS. THOMPSON JUDD: My name is Ena

         18  Thompson Judd, and I'm an employee at the St.

         19  Albans, Queens VA. I am a representative of the

         20  American Federation of Government Employees, which

         21  represents approximately 200,000 (sic) federal

         22  employees. I do represent the employees, bargaining

         23  unit employees in the VA New York/New Jersey

         24  hearing.

         25                 Ladies and gentlemen, I appreciate
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          2  the opportunity to speak on behalf of the employees

          3  at the VA.

          4                 Manhattan VA employs over 1,500

          5  employees, most of who are bargaining unit

          6  employees. This is why it is of great concern to me,

          7  if we close the New York VA medical center or change

          8  its function, this will not only affect the New York

          9  VA hospital, this will have a Domino effect on all

         10  of the VAs in the five boroughs.

         11                 If closing the VA is about saving

         12  money, unions need to know. We need to know what

         13  will happen to the 1,500 employees that will be left

         14  without a job. All these employees -- will these

         15  employees be absolved into the other medical centers

         16  throughout the New York area? How can we be sure

         17  these employees will have a job or be absolved by

         18  other VA medical centers, when there will be fewer

         19  patients to care for?

         20                 We think that management is not

         21  telling us the truth, that many employees will lose

         22  their jobs. The employees that will be drastically

         23  affected will be the lower paid employee, such as

         24  housekeepers, food service workers, laundry workers,

         25  and most of all, the veterans who served their
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          2  country.

          3                 Our employees work because they have

          4  families to support. When you lose your job, you

          5  lose your home and the other benefit that comes with

          6  the job. Some of our employees are also single

          7  parent, and have to work in order to care for their

          8  families. Taking away their job is taking away bread

          9  out of their children's mouth and a roof from over

         10  their head.

         11                 There is no welfare to fall back to.

         12  We may be able to get unemployment, but that only

         13  lasts for awhile, and that runs out too.

         14                 The City of New York stands to lose a

         15  lot of revenue if we close the New York VA. We all

         16  know New York City has lost so much revenue after

         17  September 11th, this closure would make it even

         18  worse.

         19                 A veterans change in the VA medical

         20  center function would create disruption, which would

         21  lead to disorientation in continuity of care for all

         22  veterans.

         23                 For example, when you get to know

         24  your doctors, you don't want to change him or her,

         25  because most people trust their doctors.
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          2                 Many veterans travel to New York

          3  Medical Center because they like the care they

          4  receive. If you take that away from them, you'll be

          5  doing them a disservice.

          6                 Public transportation is easily

          7  accessible to the New York VA Medical Center. It is

          8  hard to travel from Brooklyn VA by public

          9  transportation. Brooklyn VA is out of the way. This

         10  will inconvenience our veterans.

         11                 In conclusion, I would like to say,

         12  most veterans choose to serve their country, they

         13  shall also have a choice as to where they receive

         14  their care.

         15                 Once again we'll be letting our

         16  veterans down if we close the Manhattan VA Medical

         17  Center. Thank you very much.

         18                 MS. BRODIE: Once again, my name is

         19  Ann Brodie, I'm President of Local 2094, Manhattan.

         20                 I have approximately 1,800 bargain

         21  unit employees, 1,800 that I represent.

         22                 We also have --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Let me say this to

         24  you, my sister.

         25                 MS. BRODIE: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We are sisters and

          3  brothers in here, and you don't need to be nervous.

          4  We're just talking to each other, okay?

          5                 MS. BRODIE: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay.

          7                 MS. BRODIE: Okay, back to my

          8  employees that I represent, there is a great risk of

          9  them losing their jobs, or be reassigned to other

         10  hospitals if the Manhattan transfer of their

         11  services to other -- is Brooklyn VA. Manhattan is

         12  the echelon of New York. Our service is fantastic.

         13  I've been with the VA for 31 years. Manhattan VA is

         14  like a home, a family, and we don't want to see it

         15  dismantled.

         16                 Our VA Manhattan is centrally located

         17  whereas it makes it easier for the employees, the

         18  veterans, the doctors, to get there.

         19                 Brooklyn is like two or two and a

         20  half hours away from Manhattan. The services, they

         21  do not have handicapped privilege for the veterans,

         22  whereas New York does. Our transportation is

         23  fantastic.

         24                 A few years ago Manhattan had VAs,

         25  veterans sign up, or encourage VA veterans to sign
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          2  up for health care.

          3                 And they would go free, free

          4  services, if they -- excuse me -- they would have

          5  free health care service, if we as employees can

          6  encourage veterans to come through Manhattan.

          7                 During that period, the facility was

          8  rewarded for getting X amount of veterans in for

          9  check-ups or whatever they needed, now they are

         10  trying to reduce the expansions -- making it harder

         11  for the veterans to access their health care now.

         12                 They have a shorter stay in the

         13  hospital now. They are mental health, substance

         14  abuse, PTSD, all those programs have been closed,

         15  veterans have been left homeless, the mentally ill

         16  and chemically addicted without any place to go.

         17                 All these things with the closure and

         18  with Manhattan transferring their services to other

         19  areas is not helping our veterans, our employees who

         20  are veteran, and NYU, which we're affiliated with

         21  and Bellevue. There would be a hardship, or a lot of

         22  people would lose out if these services are

         23  transferred to other areas.

         24                 I feel that we should think about our

         25  veterans, what they've gone through, what they feel
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          2  are going through, and we have an ongoing war now,

          3  and we're talking about closing everything, not

          4  closing everything, but closing down services that

          5  would affect our veterans overseas. And when we

          6  close these services, where are our veterans going

          7  to go? We need this hospital to remain open,

          8  inpatients, outpatients, as is.

          9                 And as I said before, Manhattan is

         10  centrally located for every person to get back and

         11  forth. I'm going to close my statement now. Thanks

         12  very much, and thanks for being patient with me.

         13                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Again, my name

         14  is Catherine Benjamin-Bovell. I represent over 300

         15  registered nurses at the New York VA Medical Center,

         16  to the New York State Nurses Association, which is

         17  our bargaining unit.

         18                 I offer the following thoughts to be

         19  considered in current discussion about the statuses

         20  of the services in the New York Harbor Health Care

         21  System.

         22                 First, access. Many of our veterans

         23  come to New York VA Medical Center for comprehensive

         24  care. Why? Because it is more accessible to public

         25  transportation. A large percent of this population
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          2  is the frail elderly with caregivers and spouses

          3  that are medically, physically and in some cases

          4  mentally compromised.

          5                 Also, our large number of veterans

          6  that are homeless and mentally challenged would find

          7  a change in location to be a significant hardship.

          8                 Statistics will show that many

          9  veterans who will live outside of Manhattan utilize

         10  greater services at the New York Campus, which

         11  reflects patients' commitment to travel to an

         12  accessible location.

         13                 If the recommendation of the CARES'

         14  Commission resulted in a relocation of services,

         15  this will become a major challenge for the veterans

         16  and the families who are heavily dependent on public

         17  transportation with handicapped facilities.

         18                 It is my belief that the New York

         19  Manhattan Campus is best located and should be

         20  preserved to continue its mission in providing

         21  inpatient services to the uniform men and women who

         22  have long paid their dues and for others to come.

         23                 Two, familiarity. Older veterans have

         24  longstanding relationships with the health care

         25  providers, and a predictable environment. When local
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          2  changes occur within an environment, trust in the

          3  familiar face, assist the veteran in adjusting.

          4  Sweeping changes in an urban aging population would

          5  adversely impact on the stability and the continuity

          6  of care of our veterans. We must not lose sight of

          7  the fact that our veterans are rapidly aging and as

          8  they age, familiarity is not only a source of

          9  comfort, but also a matter of predictability and

         10  trust in the system.

         11                 Third, confidence.

         12                 Because of our longstanding and loyal

         13  affiliation to one of the world's renown medical

         14  facilities, New York University Medical Center, the

         15  veterans and their families have developed trust in

         16  knowing that they would receive state-of-the-art

         17  treatment. Patients travel from across the nation

         18  and abroad to come to New York University Medical

         19  Center for care.

         20                 It is essential that veterans be

         21  allowed to sustain, maintain confidence in their

         22  care providers. Our veterans and their families have

         23  expressed a trade in this level of confidence will

         24  be a devastating blow to research, and advances in

         25  health care and loss of a comprehensive care that

                                                            73

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  they are now receiving.

          3                 Most significantly our workforce.

          4  Many of our VA professionals and skilled employees

          5  are aging and are caregivers of aging families and

          6  many are in the child-bearing years and are raising

          7  young families. A change in the work site will also

          8  greatly disrupt the lives of the workers and their

          9  families.

         10                 In conclusion, I support and applaud

         11  the efforts of the City Council Committee on Health

         12  and on Mental Health in calling upon the US

         13  Department of Veterans Affairs to maintain current

         14  levels of inpatient and outpatient medical care at

         15  the veterans medical center in Manhattan.

         16                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         17  testify today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you to all

         19  of you for coming. I only have one question for the

         20  three of you.

         21                 Has the administration of the

         22  hospital, or the administration of the Veterans

         23  Administration communicated to any of the unions

         24  about this CARE Commission that was put in place, in

         25  order for your membership, or you personally who
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          2  represent the unions, will be able to testify in

          3  this hearing or provide them with information that

          4  obviously is necessary for them to know if this is a

          5  good idea or was a bad idea? Have you been

          6  contacted, given the opportunity to know about this,

          7  or learn about it?

          8                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Yes. I was

          9  personally invited by the CARES' Commission to

         10  testify at the hearing at Bronx VA, which I did on

         11  September 17th. And during the early discussion, or

         12  the development of the CARES' Initiative, I was

         13  invited to participate as part of the local level.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Early?

         15                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How early was that

         17  notification given to you?

         18                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Very early. Over

         19  two years ago we've been working on this.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then over two

         21  years.

         22                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Knowing that

         23  there was going to be some changes taking place

         24  within the system.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Did you understand
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          2  that this was a Commission that was put together

          3  with the idea of possibly closing units, cancelling

          4  complete units and things like that?

          5                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Yes, there were

          6  flavors to that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You were aware.

          8                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That these

         10  discussions were taking place?

         11                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: How about you?

         12                 MS. JUDD: I would like to answer

         13  that.

         14                 As I said, I'm a national rep.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         16                 MS. JUDD: And I visit Washington

         17  twice a year and the CARES came up two weeks ago and

         18  we discussed it, but we were assured that there

         19  would be no closure and that the employees would not

         20  lose their job.

         21                 I can give you a copy of this because

         22  I received it about a month ago. When we sat on the

         23  CARES' group at the facility level, we did not --

         24  our plan was not closure of any VAs in New York

         25  area. When the information came back to us, we were

                                                            76

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  surprised to find out that New York VA was going to

          3  be closed.

          4                 First they said it would be St.

          5  Albans extended care center, and then they have a

          6  hearing at the St. Albans extended care center, and

          7  I think representative Meeks, he had brought a

          8  resolution to that federal government to give him

          9  promise that they would not close St. Albans because

         10  that's where you represent. They said it could not

         11  pass no law regarding that, but that they would

         12  assure him that St. Albans would not be closed.

         13  That's where I work.

         14                 But then we heard that it's New York,

         15  and they assured me that it's not closure, it's

         16  realignment. Don't ask me what that means, because

         17  if you are going to change a medical center as big

         18  as New York area into an outpatient clinic, that's

         19  actually closing that place. So, we were informed,

         20  but not in details.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: In your case?

         22                 MS. BRODIE: In my case I was not

         23  informed.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You were not.

         25                 MS. BRODIE: I found out maybe two,
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          2  three, four to a month and a half when it was posted

          3  in the news. It wasn't the news, but it was a paper,

          4  and Hillary Clinton, Schumer and Carol Maloney, they

          5  found out about it. And this is how I really found

          6  out, by reading this, and I was sure there was no

          7  truth to it.

          8                 The agency has been meeting secretly

          9  since all this exposure. They have not involved the

         10  unions. I have not been invited to any meetings at

         11  all pertaining to the closure.

         12                 They have not approached me on

         13  closure on what is going on, on what is going to

         14  happen with our members, or if our jobs are safe.

         15  Nothing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then for all

         17  intents and purposes, in your particular case, the

         18  population of workers that you represent were

         19  ignorant of all of this information?

         20                 MS. BRODIE: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And those workers

         22  that you represent, can you please, for the purpose

         23  of the record, repeat who they are?

         24                 MS. BRODIE: I have 1,800 bargain unit

         25  employees.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But what do they

          3  do?

          4                 MS. BRODIE: Oh. I have house

          5  cleaners, laundry rooms, prosthetics, dietetics,

          6  nursing assistants, LPNs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: It's the heart of

          8  the hospital in a way.

          9                 MS. BRODIE: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes. And these are

         11  the ones in VA Hospital on 23rd Street.

         12                 MS. BRODIE: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That amount?

         14                 MS. BRODIE: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So all 1,800 are

         16  at 23rd Street?

         17                 MS. BRODIE: Yes, 23rd Street.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: All of them?

         19                 MS. BRODIE: All of them at 23rd

         20  Street.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And the nurses

         22  that you represent, all of them are on 23rd Street?

         23                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Yes, they are.

         24                 MS. JUDD: No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No, okay.
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          2                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: My concern is,

          3  if you close the New York facility, we at the other

          4  VA facility have to absorb, we have to do a rate

          5  reduction enforce.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

          7                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: And if you do a

          8  reduction enforce, it's going to have a domino

          9  effect on all the VAs within New York area and New

         10  Jersey, because the people with the least senior

         11  will be terminated and people with the most senior

         12  have to be saved.

         13                 During a rift it's going to cost

         14  millions of dollars in order to rift 15 or 18 or

         15  200,000 employees. So, we are not saving money when

         16  we close New York VA.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you give me

         18  some light on the kind of population that comes to

         19  the 23rd Street? Because in the last meeting that I

         20  have on this, veterans came to notify us that

         21  veterans from Staten Island and veterans from New

         22  Jersey prefer to go to 23rd Street because it's easy

         23  for them to access the services. This is accurate?

         24                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: It is accurate.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you illuminate
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          2  us on this?

          3                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: I think for one

          4  the access of care is much more accessible coming to

          5  New York VA than it is to get to Brooklyn. It will

          6  take a veteran really about three hours, depending

          7  on his state of physical, his physical state. If a

          8  patient is mentally challenged, to tell him to go to

          9  Brooklyn VA for treatment is very, very devastating

         10  to a mentally challenged patient. And we have

         11  elderly families, the wives come with the husbands,

         12  could hardly get off the bus but they want to be

         13  there with him, and to channel them to Brooklyn, it

         14  becomes a significant hardship.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         17                 Just kind of a little bit of a

         18  follow-up. Of the workers, the 300 and the 1,800

         19  that you all represent, has the VA or the CARES'

         20  Commission or anybody told you how layoffs will

         21  occur, are people going to be transferred, if their

         22  realignment goes into effect, which we hope it

         23  doesn't, what's the impact going to be on your

         24  workers? What have they told you? Because the

         25  federal government makes it sound like everything is
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          2  just, everybody is just going to pack up their boxes

          3  very neatly and go to Brooklyn, but as we've heard

          4  from many people, and very powerfully from the folks

          5  at NYU, that's not going to happen, because we know

          6  they're not putting $100 million minimally into

          7  Bayridge, we know that for a fact, I don't care what

          8  anybody says.

          9                 So, since that's not going to happen,

         10  if this ill-conceived plan goes through over

         11  everyone's objections, how many of your nurses and

         12  your array of workers are going to in the first

         13  round lose their jobs?

         14                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: Well, with the

         15  nurses we have what is called, it's not a rift, it's

         16  an adjustment in your status. So, it is quite

         17  possible that we could lose about 50 percent of our

         18  nurses at the Manhattan VA, because Brooklyn, as

         19  we're told today, they are better staffed than we

         20  are. So, they may not need our nurses. So where do

         21  they go?

         22                 It has not been discussed. The impact

         23  on the staff has never been discussed with us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: They never

         25  discussed with you, although you are the union
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          2  representative.

          3                 MS. JUDD: No, they haven't met with

          4  us. They haven't even -- I mean, the invitation says

          5  we need to talk.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

          7                 The representative from the New York

          8  State Nurses Association, I know they did reach out

          9  to you, what did they speak with you about, if not

         10  the impact on the workforce? I mean, you are the

         11  nurses union, so it seems like that was a topic they

         12  should talk to you about.

         13                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: It is basically

         14  the impact of what would it be if we were to decide

         15  to close or to eliminate services at the facility.

         16                 It was surely directed at patient

         17  services, not employees. In no way have I heard any

         18  discussion about the impact on nurses or any other

         19  employees.

         20                 MS. JUDD: As I said, I attend

         21  Washington, as AFGE representative we meet with the

         22  VA twice a year from the national level, and they

         23  have yet to discuss what would they do with these

         24  people, these employees, and they're still assuring

         25  us that they won't lose their job, but I mean you
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          2  can say that but that is not reality.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

          4                 MS. JUDD: Because Brooklyn cannot

          5  absolve 2,000 people, as I said, employees, and

          6  where I work we are laying off people, getting rid

          7  of people every day, so how are you going to absolve

          8  these people. Yes, we might be able to absorb the

          9  nurses, because we have a nursing shortage.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         11                 MS. JUDD: But we won't be able to

         12  absorb the laundry workers, the housekeepers, the

         13  food service workers, because we consolidate our

         14  food service, so we supply the New York/New Jersey

         15  area veterans with food, so if we close 23rd Street,

         16  we're getting rid of those workers because we can't

         17  absorb them, because we already absorbed them. We

         18  have housekeepers at New York VA, if you close New

         19  York VA, you won't need no housekeepers because the

         20  place is closed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         22                 MS. JUDD: And the same thing with

         23  dietetic workers and the same thing with laundry

         24  workers, so we are going to lose, people are going

         25  to lose their jobs one way or the other.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Of the 1,800

          3  workers that you represent, Ma'am, have they told

          4  you about how many would lose their jobs in the

          5  first phase of their realignment?

          6                 MS. BRODIE: We have not even

          7  discussed the issue. I'm having a meeting next week

          8  with the partnership trying to find out what is

          9  going on and what are their plans. We're kept in the

         10  dark, I'm in the dark, and I know Ms. Bovell, but I

         11  am and they have not mentioned anything about

         12  closure, transferring services, nothing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I want to

         16  acknowledge the presence of Council Member Gale

         17  Brewer. I apologized to her for not noticing that

         18  she was there before.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have a very

         20  quick question. I was actually working for Mayor

         21  Dinkins when the base closing took place, and that

         22  was also a situation in which urban America was

         23  targeted. Base closings hurt us tremendously, not

         24  just in New York but around the country, that was

         25  George Bush the 1st, and my question is, do you have
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          2  any sense if there is a -- obviously this is a

          3  national effort, and I'm always very suspect because

          4  I think that urban America is focused by the

          5  Republican administration. So, I was wondering if

          6  your colleagues and any of the locals or some of the

          7  nationals, in terms of the unions, have had any

          8  discussions or heard anything about the hospitals in

          9  their areas?

         10                 MS. BENJAMIN-BOVELL: I'm happy you

         11  said that, because I will be going up to Canondaga

         12  (phonetic) on Monday. We're having a rally up in

         13  Canondega because they are slated to close one of

         14  their facilities. Mrs. Clinton will be there and

         15  other local delegation will be there to address the

         16  closure of their facility.

         17                 It is of great concern to us because

         18  once the President came in he slated federal workers

         19  to downsize federal workforce and I think he had

         20  targeted 50,000 federal workers to be contracted

         21  out. So far he had targeted, six months ago we had

         22  an issue about laundry workers, and housekeepers,

         23  pharmacists and other ancillary employees to be

         24  contracted out, we were lucky enough that a union

         25  was able to stop that because what we did was, we
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          2  had a loophole in the law that said you couldn't do

          3  an A76 with appropriated funds, so we were able to

          4  stop the agency from using the appropriation of

          5  funds to do A76. So that is put on hold, the

          6  president came back and he said he's going to

          7  Congress to put something in law so that they can

          8  start the contracting out.

          9                 But there is a referendum on federal

         10  workers, and we really don't have no leg to stand on

         11  because the president is against union or he's

         12  against federal workers. So, we're fighting a hard

         13  battle, but we are in it and we are going to

         14  continue to fight. That's why we thank you all for

         15  hearing what we have to say. Thank you, again.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you be so

         17  kind, each one of you, to just answer my last

         18  question, to tell me if you have an idea where the

         19  workers that work at 23rd Street more or less

         20  reside? Does the majority reside in the Bronx, in

         21  Brooklyn, in Queens or all over the City?

         22                 MS. BRODIE: My union employees, they

         23  reside all over the City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But they reside in

         25  the City?
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          2                 MS. BRODIE: Queens, Brooklyn, Bronx,

          3  Staten Island.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay. Those are

          5  the ones that you represent.

          6                 MS. BRODIE: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And how about in

          8  your case?

          9                 MS. JUDD: Similarly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Excuse me?

         11                 MS. JUDD: Similarly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then we are not

         13  talking about employees who live in Long Island, in

         14  New Jersey, these basically are employees that live

         15  in New York City, that they're closing or

         16  dismantling this facility will have another

         17  repercussion, which is creating unemployment in New

         18  York City which was supposedly what the president

         19  was not going to do to New York City. He's supposed

         20  to help us. In here he's not promoting economic

         21  development, right?

         22                 MS. JUDD: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you. Thank

         24  you very much.

         25                 MS. JUDD: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Lee Covino and

          3  Lilia Rodriguez, please step up.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I just want to

          5  read a note that somebody send me very kindly. I

          6  don't know who the person who wrote this was, but I

          7  want to read it on the record.

          8                 "Councilwoman, I am a female veteran

          9  who served in the Air Force during the Vietnam era.

         10  In response to your question, when did you find

         11  about the closing of the Veteran Hospital on East

         12  23rd Street, well I learned about this out of your

         13  mouth while I was listening to WBAI and you were

         14  talking to the radio. What I got to say to you is

         15  God bless you, keep you safe from the butch bad guys

         16  gang.

         17                 Dee Lebron."

         18                 Thank you very much. God bless you

         19  for the note. Thank you for protecting our country.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Could you

         21  please raise your right hand? Do you swear or affirm

         22  that the testimony you will provide here today will

         23  be truthful in all respects?

         24                 MR. COVINO: Yes, I do.

         25                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you. You

          3  may proceed.

          4                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Hi. Good afternoon. My

          5  name is Lilia Rodriguez, and I represent the

          6  resident physicians at City Hospitals, we also

          7  represent resident physicians in private hospitals.

          8  In this instance we're very much concerned with

          9  Bellevue residents, and to a very much extent the

         10  Kings County residents, and I'll explain that in a

         11  minute.

         12                 I apologize for not having a written

         13  statement, because as has been stated before, it has

         14  been a big secret, and we found out about the big

         15  secret last night. I will be presenting a report,

         16  written report, later on.

         17                 Let me give you just a brief

         18  statement from the view from the eyes of a

         19  physician.

         20                 At Bellevue Hospital, at any given

         21  time, although there are 1,000 residents within

         22  Bellevue, VA and NYU, our bargaining unit is 400

         23  residents. Half of those, almost half of those. But

         24  every six months those residents rotate payroll. So,

         25  we receive, we represent at any given time all of
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          2  those residents.

          3                 In terms of the eyes of a resident as

          4  a personal situation, a resident who spent his life

          5  preparing to be a practicing physician, and who is a

          6  practicing physician still in training, will have to

          7  make a decision whether he or she will continue in

          8  that practice. As mentioned here before by NYU, and

          9  I have no idea of HHC, but Bellevue Hospital has

         10  been in this hearing, medicine and surgery residents

         11  are one of the ones that are heavily working at

         12  Bellevue Hospital, and just the thought of not

         13  finishing their training implies moving, implies not

         14  having a job, implies maybe redoing their career or

         15  starting over or something, be that medicine or

         16  something else.

         17                 In terms of acquiring a job or moving

         18  to another residency program, it's not as I would go

         19  and apply for another job. It takes evaluations, it

         20  takes recommendations from their department. If it's

         21  a closing of a program, it also means accreditation

         22  of the program and why the program was closed, and

         23  those are questions that if I am the resident and

         24  you're the employer, you are going to ask me as to

         25  why and it shouldn't be that the situation of the
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          2  resident to be placed there to answer those

          3  questions. And obvious economic and personal and

          4  emotional repercussions.

          5                 Today residents, there are a lot of

          6  them who are single physicians, men and women, but

          7  many of them have families who have to take care of

          8  them. So, many of our residents are residents who

          9  are here who are foreign, obviously legal, and are

         10  redoing their careers or redoing their careers here,

         11  and no work Visa means that many of them in 30 days

         12  have to find another job, and that is very, very

         13  complicated.

         14                 In terms of the program, there are

         15  processes, complicated process for accreditation.

         16  And a closing of programs, as stated before by Mr.

         17  Brotman, the closing of the facility would mean that

         18  the survival of the surgery residency programs, the

         19  medicine residency programs, or putting in jeopardy

         20  other programs that where physicians rotate to that

         21  surgery or resident program, and that will mean that

         22  the physicians will be -- the programs will be

         23  questioned as to their accreditation and to fulfill

         24  their responsibility to prepare a physician.

         25                 Also our concern is with Bellevue
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          2  Hospital. Bellevue Hospital is going to receive the

          3  brunt of -- the impact, if the closing of the VA

          4  does happen. And it is not because the workers in

          5  this hospital, because I have to include brothers

          6  and sisters from other unions and the other workers

          7  in the hospitals will not be able to do the work

          8  because they don't know. It's just that it will be

          9  too much.

         10                 The resources also that the City

         11  Hospital have are not the same resources that the VA

         12  Hospital have. Furthermore, we represent 400

         13  residents at Kings County Hospital. As mentioned

         14  before, it would be an affiliation, Kings County's

         15  affiliations, the educational affiliations, the

         16  residency programs are Downstate. Our question is,

         17  if it's moving to Brooklyn, how is Downstate going

         18  to be able to provide the residents? Are those 400

         19  residents that we represent in Brooklyn, in Kings

         20  County, how are they going to be able to tend to the

         21  responsibility with the number of patients that are

         22  seen in Kings County, and I'm assuming that

         23  definitely there will be patients that would have to

         24  be seen in Kings County rather than Downstate. This

         25  is the workforce, as many other workers who are
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          2  overworked, and a physician needs to have resources

          3  and needs to have the appropriate environment to

          4  tend to the patients, be that veterans or other

          5  patients. So, the repercussions, the first impact is

          6  the veteran, but there are other patients that are

          7  seen in the City hospitals, and we also have to look

          8  beyond that.

          9                 Patient care is very important, and

         10  that has been the goal of Dr. Benjamin Chu and is

         11  commendable. So, we also want to know from the City,

         12  how are they going to manage to tend to these

         13  patients when your work as a resident physician is

         14  going to be directly impacted or affected.

         15                 And the last thing that I would like

         16  to say is that, having been in other hearings

         17  before, or looking to residents every other day,

         18  their commendment and concern for patients, veterans

         19  or the patients of New York City is eternally high.

         20  And the idea of having the institution closed, other

         21  than for their personal concern in terms of their

         22  careers, is also for the patients that they serve.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 MR. COVINO: Good afternoon,

         25  Chairwoman Quinn and Chairwoman Lopez. I must
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          2  apologize for not having copies of prepared remarks

          3  today, but as we all know, there was a big tragedy

          4  yesterday, we went right into the family center mode

          5  in taking care of some of the families up until the

          6  late hours last night.

          7                 But my name is Lee Covino, and I

          8  represent Staten Island Borough President James P.

          9  Molinaro, I'm his Veterans Affairs Advisor.

         10                 I'm also a member of the Veterans

         11  Advisory Board and I was appointed by the Mayor to

         12  that.

         13                 I'm here today to reiterate the

         14  Borough President's opposition to any closures or

         15  realignments to the Manhattan Veterans Hospital. We

         16  appreciate the opportunities we've had to come and

         17  voice our position on this matter, and both of these

         18  committees are to be commended for providing the

         19  real opportunity to the veterans community, to the

         20  providers of care for veterans, and those ancillary

         21  folks who are deeply impacted by any shifts in the

         22  current system. As we've heard today everybody in a

         23  way is woven into the economic fabric of Manhattan,

         24  and the City as a whole, and these cuts or

         25  realignments can be very devastating.
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          2                 The closure of the Manhattan hospital

          3  of course would have direct implications to Staten

          4  Island veterans. As we saw yesterday, people trying

          5  to get to Staten Island when there was no ferry had

          6  a big problem. The MTA had to set up special

          7  shuttles to get them back to the ferry and so forth.

          8                 Many of our veterans who come from

          9  ferry access to Manhattan Hospital are economically

         10  disadvantaged, and of course many of them are frail,

         11  elderly, physically disabled and so forth.

         12                 We believe in our opinion that

         13  neither Acess-A-Ride nor the existing low key

         14  shuttles that the VA Hospital provides would have

         15  the capacity to address any kind of a realignment in

         16  inpatient or outpatient services, which go away from

         17  the current location in the Manhattan Veterans

         18  Hospital.

         19                 These cuts which are being done over

         20  the objections of local VA Hospital administrators

         21  are similar, in fact, to what happened with the

         22  other realignment commission that was referred to

         23  earlier with the Homeport, and it's very important

         24  that our elected officials, perhaps this time

         25  around, take a united stand to support the veterans
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          2  hospital and all of those services.

          3                 I also might add that I don't know

          4  whether the VA has done their homework in terms of

          5  the needs. They talk about the population going

          6  down, the veterans, but my own experience between

          7  Memorial Day and the end of June, I lost three

          8  friends, that I buried. One was the Mayor's

          9  representative to Veterans Affairs, Mr. Handy, died

         10  from a heart attack, probably related to diabetes,

         11  which is recognized as a side effect of Agent Orange

         12  exposure, he was I believe 55. I had another buddy

         13  who was 53. A perfectly healthy man in New Jersey,

         14  until six months ago, thought he had a backache,

         15  died from cancer within six months, relative to

         16  Agent Orange, and I had a third buddy who also

         17  passed away from cancer related to Agent Orange.

         18                 So, I don't know whether these

         19  conditions that are cropping up now in the healthy

         20  veteran population have been considered, and those

         21  needs are very technical and very important. The

         22  research that's done in Manhattan relates to that as

         23  well. So, that's another area that we don't want to

         24  see go away.

         25                 The Borough President does support
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          2  Resolution 1027, which would preserve psychiatric,

          3  neurological and rehab programs at Manhattan, as

          4  well as resolution 1067, which would preserve

          5  current levels of both inpatient and outpatient

          6  services.

          7                 In closing, it's the Borough

          8  President's hope that the Manhattan VA Hospital

          9  would continue to remain as an important capital

         10  asset of the federal government as the health care

         11  needs of those New Yorkers serving in the military

         12  today become the responsibility of our VA system

         13  tomorrow.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The last time that

         16  you were here in the other hearing that we had, you

         17  indicated a certain amount of veterans come from the

         18  Staten Island area to request services on 23rd

         19  Street; can you repeat that number, please.

         20                 MR. COVINO: In the last year there

         21  were 11,000 outpatient visits by Staten Islanders. I

         22  believe that population to be close to 2,000 or so.

         23  We didn't have any hard data on actual inpatient.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But 11,000 visits

         25  --
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          2                 MR. COVINO: Visits, correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Were necessary by

          4  the Staten Island Veterans exclusively to the 23rd

          5  Street Hospital. That means that if I'm going to

          6  keep everybody at the level that they are healthwise

          7  in Staten Island who is a veteran, then we can

          8  expect 11,000 visits in the Brooklyn facility if

          9  this will close down. And as is, it is my

         10  understanding that the Brooklyn facility cannot see

         11  people after seven months request for an

         12  appointment.

         13                 This is what has been testified here;

         14  that is correct?

         15                 MR. COVINO: We have heard of big

         16  backlogs in getting appointments, some of them for

         17  many weeks, some of them for longer, other get

         18  things sooner. But most of the veterans that are

         19  complaining are waiting longer than shorter.

         20                 And also there's the issue of

         21  actually getting to Brooklyn Hospital, and that's

         22  why we mention Access-A-Ride. Because you might call

         23  them and you might have a confirmed appointment for

         24  2:00 that they're going to pick you up, it doesn't

         25  mean it's going to get you to your doctor's
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          2  appointment on time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's the only

          4  way that a veteran from Staten Island can get to

          5  that hospital, through the Access-A-Ride?

          6                 MR. COVINO: Well, no. I was referring

          7  more to a disabled individual, but they would have

          8  to take a bus and then transfer in Bayridge to get

          9  to the Veterans Hospital. Now, if they live on the

         10  North Shore, they would have to get a bus to the bus

         11  that takes them to Brooklyn and then transfer to get

         12  to the Brooklyn Hospital. So, you could I guess take

         13  the ferry, which is a half hour, then jump on the R

         14  Train, and then take a bus from where that leaves

         15  you off to get to Brooklyn. But obviously it's a

         16  convoluted route and the more disabled you are, the

         17  more problems you're going to have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: From Staten Island

         19  to the 23rd Street, how long it take in a normal

         20  day?

         21                 MR. COVINO: Well, let's see. I went

         22  up there to the hearing, and it was a half hour on

         23  the water, and maybe about a 15-minute train ride,

         24  and I walked three blocks over.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's it?
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          2                 MR. COVINO: Yes, I was there well

          3  within an hour.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you.

          5                 Can I ask you to ask Borough

          6  President Molinaro to write a letter to us in regard

          7  of the support to this particular motions?

          8                 MR. COVINO: To the two resolutions?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, to the

         10  resolutions that we passed. It would be greatly

         11  appreciated and helpful for us to have in writing

         12  his position in regard to this.

         13                 And incidentally, I want to clarify

         14  for the purpose of the record that the

         15  Administration of the City of New York, the Mayor,

         16  has been invited to testify to this hearing, and the

         17  Administration, from the side of the Commissioners,

         18  and they declined to come.

         19                 Then so far the City of New York have

         20  not hear any position taken by the Mayor or the

         21  Administration in regard of the closing of the

         22  Veteran Hospital. I personally will appreciate

         23  greatly that they manifest themself in regard to

         24  this. I am interested in knowing what is the

         25  position of the Administration, in regard of this
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          2  proposed downsizing closing, or minimizing services

          3  in the 23rd Street facility.

          4                 In regard of the information that you

          5  brought, I'm curious about one thing: The 400

          6  interns --

          7                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Residents.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Residents. Okay,

          9  residents. Why do they rotate every six months? What

         10  is that about?

         11                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: I tried to explain the

         12  simplest way, it's very complicated.

         13                 They are residents, residency

         14  programs.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         16                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Those residency

         17  programs, as per ACGME, which is the Accredited

         18  Council for Graduate and Medical Education, decides

         19  there are these number of residency spots available,

         20  because of the affiliation agreement between

         21  Bellevue Hospital and NYU, there's a decision being

         22  made by the institution as to how those slots are

         23  going to be allotted, or those residency slots are

         24  going to be given, and then in comes the matter of

         25  payroll. Hospitals or institutions who sponsor
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          2  residency programs do get money from the federal

          3  government, which goes to a big pot in order to

          4  provide for the residency programs and other things

          5  in the hospital, not exclusively to pay the resident

          6  but it is given to that.

          7                 There are caps to those numbers. So,

          8  they make a decision as to how many residents are

          9  going to be paid by a hospital. So the City will get

         10  reimbursement for having those residents, so does

         11  NYU. Amongst themselves they decide. Now, for

         12  purposes of services, now that us as representatives

         13  of the bargaining unit are agreeing with that, but

         14  have no particular say on their decision, they

         15  rotate the residents every six months. Before it was

         16  even worse, it was every time they changed rotation.

         17  Right now it's just, I started my first, if I were a

         18  resident, started my first year, my first six

         19  months, I would be paid by NYU and come the next six

         20  months I would be paid by Bellevue.

         21                 Now, that doesn't have any direct

         22  relationship as to where I am working as a direct or

         23  indirect implication, but I could be paid by

         24  Bellevue and be at Tish or any of the NYU hospitals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then those 400 are
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          2  divided by between NYU, Veteran Hospital, NYU,

          3  Bellevue?

          4                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: It's a rough number,

          5  1,000 residents plus. We have an average of 100 plus

          6  residents at any given time on Bellevue payroll.

          7  Paid by Bellevue, and most of them paid, working at

          8  Bellevue, a number of those will be rotating at the

          9  VA, or at Tish. Now the residents who work at the

         10  VA, the majority of them, and I believe it's 140

         11  residents, would be on NYU payroll.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I was told it was

         13  150.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: I'm missing ten

         15  residents.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         17                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: You're welcome.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Alexander Pas,

         19  Dorothy Williams-Pereira, and Gideon Rosenbluth,

         20  will you please step up.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You know, I don't

         22  know my colleagues around here, but when I begin

         23  dealing with this issue, I feel that was less

         24  complicated, and the more I look at it, the more it

         25  look to me like a nightmare.
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          2                 Just a comment that I have. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon.

          5  Will you please raise your right hands?

          6                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          7  testimony you're about to provide here today will be

          8  truthful in all respects?

          9                 MR. PAS: I do.

         10                 MR. ROSENBLUTH: Yes.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Mr. Rosenbluth.

         12                 MR. ROSENBLUTH: I am the Regional

         13  Chairman, New York State, United Automobile Workers

         14  Union, that's Region 9A.  We have several thousand

         15  veterans in the New York area. We had an attendance

         16  in Michigan in September. The Veterans Committees of

         17  the various locals of our union who came to Michigan

         18  to discuss some of the problems facing us at the

         19  present time.

         20                 The question about the Veterans

         21  Administration, we heard a rumor came that the

         22  Veterans' Administration was planning to budget cut

         23  veterans in the United States.

         24                 Back in 1965, there was the same

         25  attempt of the Veterans Administration at that time
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          2  to cut programs as budget cuts for the veterans. It

          3  seems to us, in the Conference, the Michigan

          4  conference of the UAW, that there's an attempt by

          5  this Administration, that's the George W. Bush

          6  Administration, to blind their eyes in the problems,

          7  the social problems not only of veterans but the

          8  social problems throughout the country. The concept

          9  of this Administration is more interested in wars

         10  with concerned veterans. I am a veteran of the

         11  second world war, I served in an invasion in North

         12  Africa, spent a year doing a campaign against Rowell

         13  in the German Nazi Army. I served in an Italian

         14  invasion. I went into the Southern France invasion,

         15  into the Rhineland, into Germany. I was a casualty,

         16  I was in a field hospital. I came back home and

         17  immediately two years after I served they took all

         18  my finances, as far as the care of my situation.

         19                 Of the 16 million second world war

         20  veterans, there is now today left 3 million veterans

         21  of the second world war. The casualty rates per day

         22  of the veterans here in the United States, 1,000

         23  veterans today died, per day 1,000. We figured

         24  logistics that the average per year of veterans who

         25  die, whether natural cause or what cause, it's
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          2  approximately around 360 to 400,000 veterans.

          3                 We figure in the year between five to

          4  ten years, there will be no more second world war

          5  veterans. They will pass away.

          6                 We don't feel that we have been

          7  treated good. I am a patient right now at the 23rd

          8  Street Hospital. Tuesday I had to get together with

          9  my doctor, urologist, who said to me that we have a

         10  problem, that I have possibly cancer. The question

         11  about how long is always a question. She gives me

         12  prescriptions. What happens, I was very interested

         13  in listening to the person who is representing New

         14  York University. On this 23rd Street Hospital in

         15  Manhattan, I'm sorry to tell you, that day, Tuesday,

         16  this past Tuesday, I got prescriptions to go down to

         17  fill out. You go first of all to the pharmacy there.

         18  Thirty-eight people are sitting down, just like

         19  here, there's only one pharmacy person who takes

         20  care of this. We sit down and wait. I waited for an

         21  hour and a half. I got disgusted, I walked out. I

         22  called my doctor today, this morning, because she

         23  wanted to know about my prescription, as far as

         24  maybe increasing it or decreasing it or what have

         25  you. I have two prescriptions. One is to the bone,
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          2  and one is to the other aspects, as far as cancer

          3  possibilities. I leave a message to my doctor at the

          4  New York University, that's why I'm sorry this

          5  person is not here right now from NYU. This doctor,

          6  it might be not, it might be just an intern, doesn't

          7  call me back. I sit in my house for three hours. I

          8  come down here. Why? To at least give you the

          9  message of what the conditions are.

         10                 The Manhattan Hospital on 23rd Street

         11  is a gigantic place. You walk through, you ask

         12  directions and so forth. They give finger

         13  directions. They've got five, ten different doors,

         14  so you make a guess where to go in and where to go

         15  out. The question I'm raising as a veteran, it is a

         16  difficult situation here. The personnel, there are

         17  three types of groups there for personnel, you ask

         18  the question what is the situation as far as the

         19  hospital is concerned. Either number one, they don't

         20  know. Number two, they hear about it. Number three,

         21  don't worry about it because they're not going to

         22  close the hospital.

         23                 There is all a lot of speculations,

         24  right. The question is who is telling the truth, who

         25  is not telling the truth? Now, I come from way back,
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          2  I'm 84 years old, going on 85. I listened to some of

          3  the stuff here today and I'll tell you very frankly.

          4  I'm not discouraged, it's something not new. I've

          5  heard this here so many years, in terms of the

          6  question around concerns of veterans.

          7                 Personally, I'm also a veteran for

          8  peace. I don't think wars, by the way, do any good.

          9  I think the war in Iraq should be finished, our

         10  troops should be sent home, not to be going home and

         11  going into veterans hospitals and getting the

         12  service what we're getting today.

         13                 These veterans in Michigan, by the

         14  way, 850 of us, stand very firmly against any

         15  closing of any veterans hospitals under any

         16  conditions, because it's an insult. It's a disgrace

         17  for this country of ours, disgrace of this

         18  Administration to even consider closing or cutting

         19  or what have you.

         20                 We also said to them, we read a

         21  resolution, and my Congresswoman is Congresswoman

         22  Carolyn Maloney. I told her that the Congress people

         23  there in Washington should have an investigation of

         24  this here Veterans Administration right now. It's an

         25  insult, it's a disgrace. The New York City Council
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          2  should go on record to have an investigation of this

          3  Veterans Administration. It's a disgrace. It's an

          4  insult and people here shouldn't take this garbage.

          5                 For 80 some odd years our people here

          6  have gone through wars, since I was born there's

          7  been eight, nine wars, and hasn't solved any

          8  problems. It hasn't solved the problems of veterans

          9  who get hurt, who get sick, who get killed. No way,

         10  I'm against it. Thank you.

         11                 MR. PAS: Good afternoon. Good

         12  afternoon, Madam Chair. My name is W. Alexander Pas.

         13  It's good to see my district Council Member

         14  Christine Quinn, and also it's good to see Gale

         15  Brewer again here.

         16                 Ms. Lopez, when we met in Union

         17  Square, one of the very first things I said was

         18  veterans. As a veteran supporter, as a Vietnam

         19  veteran, four years honorable, Marine Corps, two

         20  tours Vietnam, I, myself, am diagnosed with post

         21  traumatic stress disorder, situations like the World

         22  Trade Center and even right here in your own City

         23  Council where you had a shooting, post traumatic

         24  stress disorder is quite current, and now to hear

         25  about such events like the ferry boat and issues
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          2  like that.

          3                 We, as veterans, feel that Manhattan

          4  VA Hospital is basically the flagship of the three

          5  hospitals here in the City, and as a former job

          6  developer counselor, who has also worked under the

          7  past late Michael Handy, who also, I also did ten

          8  years of civil service working for DHS, I know that

          9  when I do outreach and go into Brooklyn, that it's

         10  not an easy hospital to get to.

         11                 Even when I lived in Bayridge and I

         12  was recovering from a hernia operation, it was hard

         13  to get to, and I lived in the neighborhood. I've

         14  been to the Bronx VA Hospital, Kingsbridge as

         15  outreach, and I know it's not easy to get to, and to

         16  subject any and all veterans who have ADA-related

         17  problems, to subject them to public transportation

         18  is horrendous, it's unconscionable.

         19                 The VA Hospital in Manhattan is

         20  considered one of the best, is not without it's own

         21  faults. Many of the hospitals underserve our women

         22  because there is not adequate care for women. If you

         23  go with the armed forces, manpower/womanpower 30th

         24  anniversary of the all volunteer recruitment armed

         25  forces today, they predict that not just will our

                                                            111

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  population increase, but we will maintain a constant

          3  military force that may increase in itself not

          4  knowing its present conflicts or its future

          5  conflicts.

          6                 So, New York City being one of the

          7  best volunteers of armed forces here in Manhattan.

          8  Manhattan serves not only Manhattan veterans, but as

          9  Lee Covino made mention, they serve Staten Island

         10  veterans.

         11                 I know that for veterans in Queens

         12  it's impossible for them to really get to the Bronx

         13  or the Brooklyn Hospitals, so Manhattan is the best

         14  choice for them. I, myself, as a veteran utilized

         15  the Manhattan VA hospital for my conditions, and I

         16  can tell you from firsthand stories, being an

         17  accredited service representative, that I deal with

         18  veterans past, present and tomorrow that come to me,

         19  relayed for compensation and disability benefits

         20  that I right now have a World War II vet who is

         21  having a hard time getting around due to arthritis,

         22  and he has just a hard time just trying to get to

         23  the Manhattan VA hospital, forget trying to get to

         24  either one of the other hospitals.

         25                 I have another World War II vet who
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          2  was a Baltic gunner, same exact thing. He's having

          3  leg problems.

          4                 I have a Desert Storm veteran right

          5  now, even though he's employed, he has a leg and

          6  knee problem. So, to subject time, as well as the

          7  physical strain and mental strain upon these

          8  veterans is, you know, is one of the biggest

          9  mistakes that the VA would have in closing down this

         10  particular hospital.

         11                 I have a veteran right now, because

         12  he lives in a walk-up apartment, he is looking to

         13  change to another apartment elevator/operator, but

         14  because his income is fixed, he cannot even get a

         15  better apartment as elevator/operator or a low floor

         16  because of the new market rent status situation. So,

         17  he's locked into living under his condition. And I

         18  could talk about various other veterans, but, you

         19  know, I'm open for questions. The last notice

         20  speaker, and I'm open for any questions or

         21  additional comments, myself or veterans I have

         22  associated with.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony.

         25                 And thank you one more time for
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          2  coming to the Committee. You are a champion. I must

          3  say that to you.

          4                 MR. ROSENBLUTH: Excuse me, Council

          5  member, the question I would like to raise, I

          6  mentioned before. There should be an investigation

          7  of the Veterans Administration, because I was glad

          8  to hear some of the people here mention who heard

          9  about it came to Washington.

         10                 I think the Veterans Administration

         11  under the Bush Presidency has been told keep

         12  everything under cover. And I think, by the way,

         13  it's an old game in the army, it's a sneaky pete, so

         14  I think you should do something on it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         16                 At this moment we would like to ask

         17  Gale Brewer, Council member, to cast your vote on

         18  the resolution that was earlier presented.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         20  would like to vote aye on all three.

         21                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         23                 The next panel -- and thank you for

         24  your testimony.

         25                 MR. PAS: You're welcome.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: John Ravan,

          3  Joseph Bello, Connie Brady and Kenneth Hermann, will

          4  you please come forward.

          5                 Will you please raise your right

          6  hand.

          7                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          8  testimony you will provide here today will be

          9  truthful in all respects?

         10                 MR. RAVAN: Yes.

         11                 MR. BELLO: I do.

         12                 MR. HERMANN: I do.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you. You

         14  may proceed.

         15                 Mr. Bello.

         16                 MR. BELLO: Okay.

         17                 Madam Chairwomen, Committee members,

         18  I thank you once again for giving me the opportunity

         19  to come before you today.

         20                 I am here to testify about the

         21  proposed City Council resolution, but I will be

         22  limiting my remarks to Resolution 1064 only, even

         23  though I realize that it's been tabled.

         24                 It hasn't been? Okay.

         25                 The funding problem begins with those
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          2  who advocate for veterans stating that veterans have

          3  earned the right to health care while the law

          4  requires that the VA secretary furnish hospital care

          5  and medical services only to the extent congress has

          6  provided money to cover the cost of the care.

          7                 Access to VA health care is a matter

          8  of utmost importance to all veterans in the

          9  metropolitan area, however, the effectiveness of all

         10  veterans programs, including health care, is

         11  dependent upon sufficient funding for the available

         12  benefits, services and resources to all for their

         13  timely delivery. So, each year funding levels are

         14  determined through an annual appropriations bill.

         15  The VA health care being a discretionary program,

         16  veteran organizations have to fight for sufficient

         17  funding for VA health care and a budget that is

         18  reflective of the rising costs of health care and

         19  the increased need for medical services.

         20                 Unfortunately, the discretionary

         21  funding for VA health care has failed to keep pace

         22  with the medical inflation and the increased demand

         23  for medical care. As a result, the VA has been

         24  forced to ration care, deny services to eligible

         25  veterans, and delay necessary modernization of
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          2  facilities and purchasing of state-of-the-art

          3  medical equipment.

          4                 At a time when more veterans are

          5  turning to the VA for care, it is unconscionable

          6  that the VA reduce the services, close enrollment

          7  and ration care due to insufficient funding.

          8                 However, the discretionary

          9  appropriation process continues to unfairly subject

         10  disabled and sick veterans to the annual funding

         11  competition for limited discretionary resources.

         12                 Guaranteed VA health care funding

         13  would eliminate the year-to-year uncertainty about

         14  funding levels that have prevented the VA from being

         15  able to adequately plan for and meet the

         16  consistently growing numbers of veterans seeking

         17  treatment.

         18                 I believe it to be unconceivable for

         19  our government to promise health care to veterans,

         20  especially our service connected disabled veterans,

         21  and then make it unattainable because of inadequate

         22  funding.

         23                 A shift to guaranteed funding would

         24  not create an individual entitlement to health care,

         25  nor would it change the VA's current mission. Only
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          2  the way the funds are provided for VA health care

          3  would change under guaranteed funding.

          4                 This measure is designed to ensure

          5  that the veterans health care system has adequate

          6  resources to meet existing statutory obligations. It

          7  would also ensure that the VA receives its new

          8  funding level on October 1st, the first day of the

          9  new fiscal year, instead of being forced to operate

         10  under last year's funding level until Congress can

         11  pass an appropriations bill.

         12                 Veterans feel they have been let down

         13  by their government and see the rationing of medical

         14  care as a broken promise at a time when they need VA

         15  health care more than ever before.

         16                 It is only fair that Congress

         17  supports America's veterans, especially at a time

         18  when we are asking new generations of men and women

         19  serving in our armed forces to protect the United

         20  States' interest at home and abroad.

         21                 There must be a bipartisan effort to

         22  fix veterans health care funding. Guaranteed funding

         23  provides the most comprehensive solution to the

         24  current VA medical funding problem. It would ensure

         25  the viability of the veterans health care system and
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          2  meet the needs of current and future service

          3  connected disabled veterans.

          4                 Therefore, it is imperative that

          5  funding for the veterans health care system is

          6  guaranteed so that all service connected disabled

          7  veterans and all other enrolled veterans have access

          8  to high quality health care services in a timely

          9  manner.

         10                 As for both bills that are contained

         11  within resolution 1064, while I support these bills,

         12  I would like the Committee to reconsider these bills

         13  before they come to a vote.

         14                 I had asked to consider HR270 with

         15  HR2318. HR270 was submitted in January of this year

         16  and currently only has 14 co-sponsors. HR2318 has

         17  the same purpose as 270, but was submitted in June

         18  by Congressman Lan Evans, ranking democratic member

         19  of the House Veterans Affairs Committee, and it

         20  currently has 136 co-sponsors, including

         21  Congresswoman Carolyn Maloney, Congresswoman Joseph

         22  Crowley and Congressman Jerrold Nader.

         23                 Instead of asking the Secretary of

         24  Veterans Affairs to replace the current formula with

         25  a more equitable formula, and leaving it in his
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          2  hands, HR2318 looks to amend Title 38 of the United

          3  States Code to provide for an assured adequate level

          4  of funding for Veterans Health Care.

          5                 As for S967, I would like the

          6  Committee to reconsider its bill S50. While I

          7  understand S50 was submitted by Senator Chuck

          8  Schumer, I mean S967, it has no co-sponsors, while

          9  S50 currently has 24 co-sponsors, including Senator

         10  Hillary Clinton.

         11                 In conclusion, I want to leave you

         12  all with something to think about that I read

         13  somewhere. A young military person who is wounded in

         14  the Middle East today will still need the VA health

         15  care system in the year 2060. We have an obligation

         16  to ensure that these future veterans will have

         17  access to a stable health care system dedicated to

         18  their needs now and in their future.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MR. ROWAN: Hi. My name is John Rowan.

         21  I'm on the National Board of Directors, and I'm also

         22  the State Council President for Vietnam Veterans of

         23  America, a congressionally chartered veterans

         24  organization.

         25                 I also serve as a service
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          2  representative to the Manhattan chapter, which

          3  allows me to basically assist veterans in filing

          4  claims for their benefits. I get to see a lot of

          5  different things. Unfortunately, personal issues get

          6  me from having formal testimony here today. I have

          7  some family situations. But I just wanted to point

          8  out a couple of different things. I also, by the

          9  way, am one of the Speaker's appointees to the New

         10  York City Veterans Advisory Board.

         11                 I testified before the CARES

         12  Committee hearing up in the Bronx as one of the

         13  official testifiers and served basically

         14  representing my organization, and pointed out to

         15  them two things: One, they made a bad supposition in

         16  the fact that they think that the decrease in

         17  population is the only criterion that they can be

         18  concerned about in the future of health care for

         19  veterans. And while it is true that the Korean and

         20  the World War II veterans are dying off in

         21  significant numbers given their age, the Vietnam

         22  veterans, coming behind them, which are a

         23  significant group, unfortunately given the nature of

         24  the war, in particularly Agent Orange, leave them

         25  with a lot more significant health care issues.
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          2                 I, myself, have been a diabetic for

          3  nine years. I have neuropathy in my feet and hands.

          4  I service many veterans like me. We are filing

          5  claims every day for them. They not only have the

          6  diabetes, they also have many of the ancillary

          7  problems, including heart conditions, retinopathy,

          8  and other kinds of situations. It doesn't count all

          9  the cancers that we see that are related to Agent

         10  Orange, as well as other kinds of conditions. We

         11  also have Hepatitis C, those who were wounded or had

         12  access to blood, or touched blood, medics, et

         13  cetera, and other military personnel who had contact

         14  with blood, that unfortunately they did not know

         15  about the Hepatitis C in those days, and therefore

         16  many veterans have Hepatitis C, which is a

         17  significant impact on the health care on the

         18  Veterans Administration. The treatment for Hepatitis

         19  C can run into hundreds of thousands of dollars, and

         20  leave all of those people debilitated for the rest

         21  of their lives.

         22                 So, all of these things combined,

         23  even though our numbers may be dwindling to some

         24  extent, the need for health care amongst the

         25  population that's left will be significant,
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          2  especially as they age. Most of us Vietnam veterans,

          3  we used to be the kids on the block, now we're the

          4  old guys. We're all in our fifties, some in our

          5  sixties, the youngest are in their late forties, the

          6  absolute youngest. And, of course, the Desert Storm

          7  kids who are now not kids either, they're all in

          8  their 30s, 40s and 50s, some of them, because many

          9  of them were reserve as the National Guard people

         10  who were called up for that war are all coming back,

         11  and a lot of them now, many years later, with

         12  significant problems, again, exposure to either what

         13  kind of other gases, et cetera, were used in that

         14  war, or other kinds of desert diseases that they're

         15  coming back with.

         16                 They have a whole category of

         17  veterans who served in that war who can receive

         18  compensation for undiagnosed illnesses. You can read

         19  it in Title 38, there's a whole section, undiagnosed

         20  illness. We know you're sick, we know you have all

         21  kinds of problems, but we don't know why, but we're

         22  going to give you compensation and we'll treat you

         23  for your health care.

         24                 The new kids on the block on the new

         25  war, the absolute new kids, I already have an Iraq
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          2  war veteran client, and he's come in to me, he just

          3  got out back at the end of August. He was a National

          4  Guard troop called up to serve, he was in the

          5  transportation unit, but he had respiratory problems

          6  when he was in Kuwait and he had respiratory

          7  problems again when he was in Iraq, never mind the

          8  fact that he also had a knee injury and some other

          9  kinds of things going on.

         10                 So, we don't know what kind of

         11  problems we're going to see coming back to them.

         12  Unfortunately, warfare is not as simple as it may

         13  have been in the past. In the past we always assumed

         14  veterans injuries were you got shot, you got blown

         15  up, you lost a leg, you lost an arm, you lost your

         16  vision, whatever, and we understood what that was,

         17  we treated you, patched you and hopefully took care

         18  of you forever. Now we've got diseases that are much

         19  more serious, much more debilitating and go through

         20  all kinds of aspects that you never even thought of

         21  years ago. So, that was the first problem, they

         22  didn't count that.

         23                 The second problem is they never took

         24  into consideration any of these issues, the problems

         25  with both drug, substance abuse and alcoholism and
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          2  mental illness. The need for Post Traumatic Stress

          3  Disorder programs for all of the wars, not only the

          4  Vietnam war, we had discovered that issue, even

          5  though it's been around forever. But the new kids

          6  coming back who are going to have those latent

          7  problems when they get older, even the brand new

          8  ones coming back from Iraq, and Bosnia, and

          9  wherever. People forget about the fact that we're

         10  still in Afghanistan, we're losing people there

         11  every other day, there are still significant troops

         12  in the Philippines doing all kinds of strange things

         13  we don't even hear about, and of course the stuff

         14  going on in Bosnia and wherever.

         15                 So, the need is not going down as

         16  much as they think it is. Granted hospital systems

         17  have changed and we have to adapt to that, but that

         18  does not mean kill the best hospital we've got in

         19  the system, being Manhattan Hospital. And I have no

         20  problems with the Brooklyn Hospital, but it is just

         21  where it is.

         22                 And the bottom line is, you take

         23  public transportation, you go to Manhattan, because

         24  that's how the public transportation system in the

         25  City was built.
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          2                 If you drive, the chances are you'll

          3  probably drive to Brooklyn or the Bronx, depending

          4  on where you live, because you can park because they

          5  have a fair amount of parking. Manhattan has none,

          6  almost.

          7                 So, the reality is, you've got all of

          8  the people in Manhattan, as was noted, some people

          9  in Staten Island, even probably in Northern

         10  Brooklyn, and certainly in Western Queens, all go to

         11  the Manhattan VA Hospital, it's been that way

         12  forever.

         13                 And so to give up the best hospital

         14  in the system with the best affiliated medical

         15  school in the system would be totally ludicrous.

         16                 But I think we have got a chance

         17  here, and I want to commend the Council for holding

         18  these hearings and trying to give some light on this

         19  issue and hopefully some publicity on this issue,

         20  because the reality is it has not been decided.

         21                 The CARES' Commission itself has not

         22  made a decision. They've  held public hearings, the

         23  processes were based on the fact that these

         24  proposals did not come from the CARES' Commission.

         25  They came from somebody sitting in headquarters in

                                                            126

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  the VA in DC who, you know, had a whole list of

          3  hospitals and came up with a black pencil and said

          4  let's line a few of them out and what makes more

          5  sense and where can we make the most money.

          6                 So, I think that we have an

          7  opportunity, thanks to folks like you and the folks

          8  that have been testifying, and all of the people who

          9  have been out protesting, not only here, but up in

         10  places like Canondega and Syracuse and Buffalo and

         11  frankly all across the country, because I can tell

         12  you the same thing is going on in many communities

         13  all across the United States.

         14                 And as is pointed out, we also

         15  support all your efforts to get the legislation in

         16  the federal government to mandate funding. We've got

         17  to get the VA system out of this yearly battle with

         18  the budgeteers in the House and Senate. And for

         19  that, I want to thank you all.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Mr. Hermann.

         21                 MR. HERMANN: My name is Kenneth

         22  Hermann, and I'm a member of the American --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Pull the

         24  microphone to you. Pull it. Pull it toward you.

         25  Don't be afraid of it. It's your property.
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          2                 MR. HERMANN: My name is Kenneth

          3  Hermann and I'm a member of the New York Chapter of

          4  the American Veterans Rights, the organization

          5  Denney spoke about earlier.

          6                 A little personal history. I

          7  graduated from the University of Pennsylvania 1966,

          8  just as the war in Vietnam was intensifying

          9  month-by-month. I would have liked to go to a

         10  graduate school but my grades were only fair. New

         11  York at the time being draft bait, I was

         12  unemployable because the company which would hire me

         13  would have had to take me back after an absence of

         14  two years in the service.

         15                 I asked to be drafted and I was sent

         16  to basic training in Georgia in July, 1966. I

         17  endured my two years, including one in Vietnam,

         18  where I was fortunate enough to work as a company

         19  clerk in an administrative post.

         20                 I claim not to have homosexual

         21  tendencies, although I was queer to my core. I'm not

         22  Dick Chaney, I did not attempt to get a student

         23  deferment by taking a night course while working

         24  full time.

         25                 When I was downsized from a job at an
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          2  ad agency years later, I paid for health insurance

          3  under Cobra legislation for 18 months. After that

          4  the cost of individual policy was so outrageous, I

          5  decided to try my luck with the VA. When I

          6  registered, I could not get an appointment for

          7  several months, but since then I have been satisfied

          8  with their service.

          9                 What sort of country are we in which

         10  can afford 87 billion to repair damage in Iraq,

         11  which we ourselves caused, but not health insurance

         12  for its own citizens?

         13                 About a year ago I developed a growth

         14  on my back. I had surgery at the 23rd Street VA, and

         15  then found out it was a malignant sarcoma. My

         16  primary physician suggested that I file a claim that

         17  it could have been caused by Agent Orange, and I

         18  recently received a check for about $4,300. I guess

         19  it is fortunate I went to the VA, because it is

         20  highly unlikely that a private doctor would have

         21  made the connection.

         22                 If this proposal is going to relocate

         23  inpatients to Brooklyn or the Bronx, I cannot offer

         24  an informed opinion, perhaps there is excess

         25  capacity at those facilities and the patients can be
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          2  taken by ambulance, but to close the whole place

          3  would be a catastrophe.

          4                 On one afternoon I had an appointment

          5  at 2:00 p.m. to see an oncologist. After sitting for

          6  about two hours, I was becoming agitated, so were

          7  many of the other men who were going up to the

          8  receptionist and talking abusively and threatening

          9  them.

         10                 I live in Washington Heights and I

         11  can easily make the trip to the Bronx VA, most

         12  people think Washington Heights is in the Bronx.

         13  What sort of overcrowding would result?

         14                 I understand that New York is not

         15  Bush country, and we are unlikely to receive any

         16  consideration, but anything you can do, City

         17  Councilpersons, would be deeply appreciated by those

         18  who serve their country, whether in a good cause,

         19  World War II, or a disastrous one, Vietnam. Many

         20  thanks for anything you can do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Any questions from the Council

         24  members?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to
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          2  thank you all for coming and testifying today, and

          3  thank you for your working with us in these efforts

          4  to keep the facility open.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: How is your

          6  son doing, sir?

          7                 MR. ROWAN: Oh, he's not so hot. I

          8  used to work for the City Council and my son was in

          9  a motorcycle accident over the weekend and so he's

         10  in Bellevue, being treated, by the way, by the same

         11  NYU facility doctors who go to the VA and go to

         12  Bellevue and go to their own NYU Medical Center.

         13  Thanks.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: From my part, I

         15  just want to make clear that the help that all of

         16  you have gave me in order to uncover this story has

         17  been tremendous, and you don't know how much I

         18  appreciate it, you coming to my rescue, when I

         19  thought I was going to the rescue of some people.

         20  It's very important always to keep humble, to

         21  understand that not necessarily you are the one who

         22  are saving, sometimes other ones are saving you.

         23  Then just for you to know when the veterans were

         24  leaving my district, came to me scared to death that

         25  they were not going to have the psyche outpatient
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          2  unit, I didn't know, I didn't have no suspicious how

          3  humungous this issue is. I have an idea, but I

          4  didn't know how huge it is to propose the closing of

          5  this hospital. And it's really, I cannot understand

          6  who can come with such a recommendation.

          7                 MR. ROWAN: It should be pointed out

          8  that they have been cutting back for a long time in

          9  the psyche ward cases. There used to be a lot more

         10  60 day and 90 day inpatient PTSD, post traumatic

         11  stress disorder clients, they've cut that down to a

         12  minimum of 30. You have to go to Montross or out to

         13  Lyons for any kind of long-term care treatment.

         14  There is no substance abuse per se long-term, or

         15  inpatient. It's all outpatient. They've cut

         16  everything, inpatient was gone years ago. The only

         17  inpatient clinic in the whole City is run by

         18  Samaritan House through a State program on 43rd

         19  Street, I believe.

         20                 I also think it's important that the

         21  Council start -- I'd like to see -- the Council used

         22  to have a Veterans Affairs Committee many years ago,

         23  and they haven't had one in awhile, and perhaps it's

         24  time to resurrect that again.

         25                 And it is important that the Health
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          2  Committees realize how much and how integral the

          3  system of the VA is through the whole health care

          4  system.

          5                 As was pointed out, if you lose the

          6  VA, we're all going to have to go somewhere else.

          7  Many of us already do. You know, many of us are in

          8  other systems, and the VA, if we didn't have that,

          9  if we all went to the VA they'd really be

         10  overwhelmed.

         11                 And also, you know, there are certain

         12  issues, post traumatic stress disorder is a real

         13  problem that, frankly, finds it to be, for whatever

         14  reason, higher in the Puerto Rican and black

         15  community. Perhaps it's other issues that go into

         16  it, and background problems, you know, they didn't

         17  have such a great family life or systems to come

         18  back to perhaps, but there is definitely a higher

         19  rate of incidence of that issue, and I know amongst

         20  the Vietnam veterans and all the studies have shown

         21  that.

         22                 So, I mean, you know, this is an

         23  issue, veterans are the only group that covers

         24  everybody. Black, white, men, women, gay, you know,

         25  straight - don't matter, all that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Just for you to

          3  know, I have been looking into this question of

          4  veterans not being represented in a particular way,

          5  exclusive way inside of the Council and I have been

          6  talking to some people.

          7                 But just for you to know, the Speaker

          8  of the City Council is very committed to help any

          9  individual who suffer from disabilities, and the

         10  proof is in the pudding. He created the Standing

         11  Committee on issues with people with disability, and

         12  at the time that all this was taking place, I had

         13  been conducting a big advocacy effort inside of the

         14  Council to work with this population and one of the

         15  reasons I have been always so interested, is because

         16  I feel the veterans, they are the people who defend

         17  us, the people who give their life for us, when they

         18  come alive, they come disabled, and I felt that this

         19  was one way in which we can encompass the services

         20  for veterans inside of the Council, and that's the

         21  reason you're here today, and that's the reason I am

         22  so much into this business, although I am not a

         23  military person and I, as some of you, hate war.

         24                 Then thank you very much, and I love

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And this joint

          3  hearing is adjourned.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Madam Chair,

          5  I just would like to say thank you for allowing me

          6  to protect your back through the entire process that

          7  we had that's going on. I protected all the women,

          8  and you can notice that I am the only male here.

          9  Thank you very much.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 4:20 p.m.)
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